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GOAL 
 

ROLE OF COMMERCIAL BANKING AND CREDIT 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Banks play a vital role in the shaping of the United States and the World Economy.  The role of 
commercial banks in economic development rests chiefly on their role as financial 
intermediaries. In this capacity, commercial banks help drive the flow of investment capital 
throughout the marketplace. The chief mechanism of this capital allocation in the economy is 
through the lending process which helps commercial banks gauge financial risk.   

The concept and functions of banks is quite simple. Banks employ cash taken from depositors, 
stockholders and earnings and lend the funds to creditworthy borrowers and invest the remainder 
in safe securities at an interest rate higher than the rate paid to depositors and cost of capital. 
Cash derived from depositors and savers in essence, become the banks inventory. 

Profits are derived from the spread between the rate banks pay for funds and the rate they receive 
from borrowers. This ability to pool deposits from many sources and lend to many different 
borrowers creates the flow of funds inherent in the banking system.  

By managing this flow of funds, banks generate profits, acting as the intermediary of interest 
paid and interest received and taking on the risks of offering credit.  

WHAT IS RISK? 
 
Risk is defined as the potential that events, expected or unexpected, may have an adverse impact 
on the bank’s earning and capital.  Regulators define nine categories of risk: 
 

❑  Credit 
❑  Interest Rate 
❑  Liquidity 
❑  Price 
❑  Foreign Exchange 
❑  Transaction 
❑  Compliance 
❑  Strategic 
❑ Reputation 
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Which one of these risks poses the greatest threat to all financial institutions? 

 

Risk Assets (typically loans and leases) make up 50% to 80% of most banks total assets.  The 
importance of the Loan Portfolio is also reflected in the income statement, as the net interest and 
loan fees make up the bulk of most commercial bank’s earnings.  The investment community 
also understands the value of a quality Loan Portfolio.  It, along with the deposit base, is a 
critical factor in establishing a value for banks.  Asset Quality become increasingly important as 
regulators assign capital requirements based on asset quality ratings. 
 
ARBITERS OF RISK 

One of the most significant roles of commercial banks in economic development is as arbiters of 
risk when banks analyze requests for loans from individuals and businesses 

When individuals and businesses apply to borrow money, the bank examines the borrower's 
finances, including Liquidity, Leverage, Operating Performance, Cash Flow,  Credit Score and 
many other factors.  

The outcome of this analysis helps banks gauge the likelihood of borrower’s risk of default. By 
avoiding risky borrowers, commercial banks lessen the risk of financial losses. 

As a result, loans that mature without any problems generate a larger pool of funds for the bank 
to lend, further supporting economic development. 
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By definition, Bankers are engaged in the business of observing,  identifying, measuring, 
accepting and managing risk.   
 

• Observing Risk 
o There is a possibility of risk 

 
• Identifying Risk 

o There is a definite Risk 
 

• Measuring Risk 
o How deep and intense is the risk 

 
• Minimizing Risk 

o Through loan structuring and other credit enchancements 
 

• Accepting Risk 
o Is the Risk in compliance with our Credit Policy? 

 
• Managing Risk 

o How can we contain the risk to insure it is acceptable to the bank throughout the 
life of the loan and minimize the bank’s losses on loans that will go bad 

 
 
The successful banker knows that a key to having a high-quality portfolio is to: 
 

1. Take an acceptable (as defined by your loan policy) level of risk.   
 

2. Manage those loans once they are on the books.   
 

3. Minimize the bank’s losses on loans that go bad.   
 

Our focus during this class will be on measuring and accepting risk. 
 
 
Financial statements are used: 
 

• To evaluate loan request 
 

• Identify risk and properly structure credit facilities 
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Risk Management is  

• A continuous process (not a static exercise) of identifying risks that is sometimes 
subject to quick and volatile changes. The identification of risks may result in 
opportunities for portfolio growth or may aid in avoiding unacceptable exposures for 
the institution.  

• A subjective evaluation driven by the experience of the lending and credit policy    
management team of your financial institution.  
 

Effective credit risk management is achieved through: 

• A comprehensive credit policy; augmented by 

• Supporting underwriting and portfolio management guidelines; implemented by 

• Qualified staff; executing 

• Efficient processes and procedures from application through payoff. 
 
It should be pointed out that hope is not an effective risk management strategy!” 
 
Primary Causes of Loan Loss  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
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The Credit / Lending process starts with prospecting for commercial borrowers that 
are in harmony with your bank’s credit culture and the expertise of your lending 
staff.  Commercial borrowers’ desirability is dictated by the bank’s credit policy 
where clear statements are made to direct lending personnel to spend their 
marketing time on those prospects worthy of the bank’s attention.  

Commercial Lending requires analytical tools that differ from the tools used in 
Consumer Lending because a company’s financial statements form the basis of the 
information used to evaluate the loan request.  We use financial statements to help 
identify risk and to properly structure credit facilities.  

An important component of this session will be the application of your “WAS” 
Walk Around Sense (aka Common Sense)  

The Commercial Lending Process has three distinct parts: 
 
• New Loan Generation 
 

o Solicitation  
o Business Development 

 
o Investigation  

o Determine Accuracy & Validity 
 

o Evaluation   
o Credit, Ratio & Cash Flow Analysis 

 
o Decision   

o Make the Call and Stick By It! 
 

 
•Portfolio Management 
 

o Documentation 
o Identify the Borrower 
o Classify the Collateral 
o Evidence the Debt 
o Attach the Collateral 
o Perfect the Security Interest 
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o Administration 

o Loan Grading 
o Loan Review 

 
•Problem Loan Management 

o Collections  
o Early Recognition  
o Downgrading Loans 
o Classified Loan Management Report 
o Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses 
o Trouble Debt Restructure 
o Non-Accrual Treatment 

 
 
Another perspective of the Lending Process can be expressed as the “Tion” 
method of making a loan because everything bankers do in analyzing a borrower’s 
request ends with the suffix “Tion”.  They include: 
 

1. Regulation 
 

2. Solicitation 
 

3. Application 
 

4. Investigation 
 

5. Evaluation 
 

6. Decision 
 

7. Documentation 
 

8. Administration 
 

9. Collection 
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Credit Analysts are an integral part of a bank’s function and overall success. If you are 
wondering if your choice as a Credit Analyst is not meaningful to your bank, please think again.  
It is the results of the credit function that defines the strength of most banks.  

 

WHAT IS A CREDIT ANALYST?  

 A credit analyst’s job is to analyze and summarize the financial condition of an entity in order to 
determine the debt repayment capability of the entity.  In doing so, the analyst considers both 
financial and non-financial factors that may impact the ability to repay.  

 Being a Credit Analyst is a highly recognized and visible skill to possess in the banking industry 
and could lead to management positions if performed effectively.  It is a great skill for those who 
choose to become a commercial / consumer lender or choose to become a career Credit Analyst.  

 There are many techniques that can be applied to reach the goal of being a Lender or 
Professional Analyst.  The technique that seems to be most effective is the ability to analyze 
what is relevant and being as brief as possible in analytical commentary without leaving anything 
that might sway a credit decision either for or against the loan request  

 Those who can achieve the right balance between too much and too little detail to arrive at 
commentary that is “just right” will be recognized as being very good credit analysts indeed.  
Following are a few traits of top-notch analysts observed over the years:   

o  Well Versed in the Details of Accounting  

o  Keep up with Changes in Accounting Practices  

o  Competent Writers in the English Language  

o  Continue Their Self-education As Opportunities Present Themselves  

o  Produce Own Financial Summaries
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WHY CREDIT ANALYSIS IS VITAL TO THE BANKING INDUSTRY? 

Improved analysis contributes by: 

◦ Improved loan quality leads to directly to better safety and soundness 
◦ Improved earnings, as fewer dollars are committed to the loan loss reserve 
◦ Allows loan officers to act as financial advisors to their customers 
◦ Enhances coaching skills 

 

The skills developed in this session should be quite useful in: 

◦ Developing new business, 
◦ Maintaining credit quality, 
◦ Implementing loan covenants, 
◦ Identify potential problem loans 

 
CREDIT ADMINISTRATION  
  
Credit Administration is the oversight of all activities related to a bank’s credit process ensuring 
the bank’s largest balance sheet asset – the loan portfolio – maintains its value.    
It comprises the entire credit process including:    

o Policy/Procedure, Underwriting Guidelines,   
o Application – Underwriting-Approval-Documentation    
o Booking – Servicing   
o Credit Management    
o Portfolio Management   
o Monitoring Delinquencies (To Include Overdrafts)   
o Problem Credit Management   
o Regulatory Reporting – Regulatory Compliance    
o Asset/Liability Management   
o Financial Reporting (ALLL) 

 

SEPARATION OF DUTIES IN THE CREDIT PROCESS  
  
When a financial institution reaches approximately $300 million in assets, it is large enough to 
consider separating Credit Administration (Credit Function) from the Business Development 
Function of the bank.  At that size, the bank should be large enough to support the salary 
requirement of a Chief / Senior Credit Officer and a Senior Loan Officer. Although there is a 
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slight overlap of job responsibilities, there are also some distinct differences.    
  
For example, the Senior Credit Officer is primarily responsible for the overall credit quality of 
the bank’s total loan portfolio by insuring the bank lending practices are safe and sound.  The 
responsibilities of this position include:  
  

o Being the enforcer of the bank’s credit policy without stagnating growth in the bank’s 
loan portfolio  

 
o Being completely objective and not swayed by trends, customs, aggressive growth goals 

and external / internal pressure   
 

o Having Loan Operations, Credit Analysts, Loan Review, Collections Department and 
Special Assets report to them  

 
o Chair the Loan Committee as a voting or non-voting member.  If they are a nonvoting 

member, they may exercise the right to vote as a means of being a tiebreaker if necessary  
 

o Responsible for the continued update of the credit policy as changes in the market and 
economic climate vary 
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PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING 

 
Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP):  

The rules financial accountants must follow when handling accounting transactions and 
preparing financial statements. Financial accountants can’t just throw numbers on the income 
statement, balance sheet, or statement of cash flows; a level playing field must exist between 
businesses so that the individuals reading the financial statements can compare one company to 
another. 
 
ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Accounting principles and assumptions are the essential guidelines under which businesses 
prepare their financial statements. These principles guide the methods and decisions for a 
business over a short and long term. For both internal and external reporting purposes, it is 
important to understand the concepts presented below because they serve as a guideline to the 
analysis of financial reporting issues. 
 
• Economic Entity Assumption  
• Revenue Recognition Principle 
• Historical Cost Principle 
• Fair Value Principle 
• Matching Principle  
• Full Disclosure Principle 
• Money Measurement 
• Continuity or Going Concern 
 
THE ACCOUNTING EQUATION 

 
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity 

 
 
After each economic event is recorded into the records of an economic entity, the Accounting 
Equation must always balance after the transaction is documented.  This will insure that the 
Balance Sheet Assets will equal the Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity and the results of the 
Income Statement is properly reflected in Retained Earnings. 
 
Bottom Line: “The equation must always be in balance”. 
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RULES OF DEBITS AND CREDITS 
        

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders' Equity 
        

        

Asset Accounts  Liability Accounts  
Stockholders' Equity 

Accounts 

Debit * Credit  Debit  Credit*  Debit  Credit* 

Debit for 
Increase 

Credit for 
Decrease  

Debit for 
Decrease 

Credit for 
Increase  

Debit for 
Decrease 

Credit for 
Increase 

           
        
        
        
Cost and Expense Accounts   Revenue Accounts  

Debit * Credit   Debit  Credit*  

Debit for 
Increase 

Credit for 
Decrease   

Debit for 
Decrease 

Credit for  
Increase  

          
        
        

DEBITS CREDITS    

Increase assets Decrease assets      
Decrease liabilities Increase liabilities      
Decrease stockholders' equity Increase stockholders' equity    
Decrease revenues Increase revenues      
Increase expenses Decrease expenses      
Increase dividends Decrease dividends      
        
        
*Normal balance       
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ACCOUNTANT PREPARED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
TYPES OF FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
Company Prepared 
 

• Prepared internally by the company’s bookkeeper or accountant 
• Economic transactions are usually entered into an accounting program such as 

QuickBooks 
• Reliability depends upon the qualifications of the individual responsible for data input 

 
Compilation 
 

▪ The CPA puts information provided by the client in proper financial statement form. 

▪ It is in accordance with GAAP 

▪ It does not express any assurances 

▪ The CPA is not required to make inquiries of management or perform other procedures to 
verify, corroborate, or review information provided by the client. 

 

Review 

▪ CPA makes certain inquiries of management and performs analytical procedures. 

▪ Not required to understand the company’s internal structure, test accounting records, 
observe inventory, confirm receivables, or obtain other corroborating evidence, as 
required in an audit engagement. 

 

Audit 

CPA goes beyond a review and on a test basis, examines evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT COMPONENTS 
 

▪ Opinion Letter 

▪ Balance Sheet 

▪ Income Statement 

▪ Statement of Retained Earnings 

▪ Statement of Cash Flows 

▪ Financial Notes 

 
OPINION LETTER 

 
When an independent Certified Public Accountant completes an audit of a client's financial 
statement, an opinion is rendered based upon the client's compliance with generally accepted 
accounting (auditing) principles.  The likely opinions are Unqualified, Qualified, Disclaimer and 
Adverse.  These are explained in more detail in the following section. 
 

Unqualified Opinion 

In rendering an Unqualified Opinion, the auditor is saying that all financial information that was 
available, in order and met all auditing standards.  After closing the examination, the auditor did 
not have major concerns or serious unanswered questions.  For a company’s management team, 
this opinion is the equivalent of receiving a gold star. 

Unqualified Opinion With Explanatory Language Added 

In such a case, the audit is still Unqualified, but the auditor felt it was necessary to add certain 
explanatory language to their report.  Doing so is not regarded as a qualification.  The auditors 
could be pointing out some inconsistency in applying accounting principles or mentioning an 
uncertainty that could have a material impact on the company’s financial statements 

Qualified Opinion 

An auditor will write this type of letter to management when most of the company’s financial 
statements are in order and meet auditing standards, except for one or more accounts or 
transactions.  The accounts or transactions in question will be named in the opinion letter.  The 
financial information provided to the auditor was not complete or the company’s accounting 
methods do not follow Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  
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Disclaimer Of Opinion 

When an auditor is not able to express an opinion, it is generally because the company did not 
provide sufficient financial information for an audit.  Opinion letters with such a disclaimer are 
relatively rare, but they may be viewed as indications that the company refused to cooperate with 
the auditor after engaging their services.  Such a letter casts doubt on the quality of the company 
and its management 

Adverse Opinion 

This is a failing grade.  The auditor is saying that the financial statements are not accurate or 
complete.  The statements do not present the company’s financial position or results in 
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  Such as opinion letter is a warning 
that the financial statements do not give a fair view of the company 

Management Letter 

This letter is written to management by the CPA firm to address findings in the audit that may be 
a conflict of interest and other recommendations to improving the accounting system. 

Balance Sheet 

 
Reflects a firm’s solvency 
 
Reports a firm’s assets, liabilities and stockholders’ equity (aka net worth and capital) as of a 
specific moment in time 

 

• Assets 
Things of value, which are owned by the business such as cash, accounts receivable, 
inventory and equipment 

 

• Liabilities 
Debts owed by the firm such as notes payable, accounts payable, etc. 
 

• Stockholders’ Equity 
The owners’ interest in the business.  It consists of owners’ investments or 
withdrawals, profits made, which have not been withdrawn or losses incurred.  Profits 
and losses are combined in an account called retained earnings. 

 
Income Statement 

 
Reports a firm’s profitability for a stated period.  Profitability is measured in each period by 
comparing the revenues generated with costs and expenses incurred to produce those 
revenues. 
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Statement of Retained Earnings  

 
This statement reflects the change in retained earnings from one accounting period to another 
by determining if retained earnings increased by the exact amount of profits earned for the 
period or losses incurred for the period.  If retained earnings did not increase by the same 
amount as profits earned, it could mean that a dividend was declared or the owners withdrew 
funds out of the company.   
 
Statement of Cash Flows 

 
Shows the cash inflows and cash outflows from operating activities, investing activities and 
financing activities. 
 

▪ Operating Activities 
Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions and other events that enter into the 
determination of net income.  It is the cash generated or used in producing profits or 
losses. 

 
▪ Investing Activities 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions involving the acquisition or 
disposal of fixed assets 

 
▪ Financing Activities 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions and other events involving 
creditors and owners 

 
Financial Notes  

 
Notes to the Financial Statements (as they are referred to) provide more detailed 
information about significant accounts on the balance sheet and income statement.  They 
may cover areas such as: 

 
▪ Accounts Receivable:  Amount of allowance for doubtful accounts and charges to 

earnings. 
 
▪ Inventory:  State the inventory costing method and the components of inventory 

 
▪ Fixed Assets:  State the depreciation method utilized, the estimated useful lives of 

assets and the components of fixed assets 
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INTERPRETATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS 
The balance sheet is a picture of a company at a given point in time. The balance sheet identifies 
all assets, liabilities and net worth of a company. The accounting or balance sheet equation is: 
 

Assets = liabilities + net worth. 
 

Assets consist of current assets, fixed assets, intermediate assets and other assets as follows: 
 
CURRENT ASSETS       CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

• Cash        Short Term Notes Payable 
• Marketable Securities     Line of Credit 
• Accounts Receivable     Current Portion of LTD 
• Allowance for Doubt Account (Contra Account)  Accounts Payable 
• Inventory       Accrued Expenses 
• Pre-paid Expenses      Income Tax Payable 
• Income Tax Refund 

 
FIXED ASSETS       LONG TERM DEBT 
 

• Land        Long Term Notes Payable 
• Buildings       Mortgage Payable 
• Equipment       Deferred Taxes 
• Furniture & Fixtures      Due to Officers 
• Leasehold Improvements 
• Operating Leases 
• Capital Leases 
• Accumulated Depreciation (Contra Account) 

 
OTHER ASSETS       NET WORTH 

• Due from Stockholders     Common Stock 
• Employee Advances      Preferred Stock 
• Due from Related Companies     Paid-In-Capital (Surplus) 
• Other Receivables      Retained Earnings 
• Deposits       Treasury Stock 
• Intangibles 
• Deferred Assets 
• Investments 
• Other Non-Operating Assets 
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INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS 
 
The income statement shows the amount of sales/revenues generated and cost/expenses incurred.  
The bottom line of an income statement indicates whether the entity earned a profit or incurred a 
loss.  Unlike a balance sheet, which captures the value of assets, liabilities and net worth at a 
specific point in time, the income statement captures activity over a period of time. The business 
has generated revenues from sales and paid total expenses. The typical income statement is 
structured as follows: 
 
 
 Sales 
 
- Cost of Goods Sold 
 
= Gross Profit 
 
-  Operating expenses (selling expenses, general and administrative expenses) 
 
= Operating income 
 
- Non-operating expenses (interest expense, other nonrecurring expenses) 
 
+ Non-operating income (interest income, other nonrecurring income) 
 
= Net income before tax 
 
+ Taxes 
 
= Net profit after tax 
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HOW THE INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET ARE RELATED 
 
Economic events will typically start through an entry onto the Income Statement and the results 
of that event will find its way to the Balance Sheet.  In other words, whatever occurs on the 
Income Statement will end up on the Balance Sheet. 
 
Another perspective is that the Balance Sheet is the end results of what occurred on the Income 
Statement.  Using the chart below, match the items on the Income Statement with the 
corresponding Balance Sheet Account shown below the chart.  This will strengthen your 
understanding of the Income Statement / Balance Sheet relationship and should enhance your 
understanding of Ratio and Cash Flow Analysis. 
 
 
Income Statement       Balance Sheet 
 
Sales for Cash      →→→→→  ___________________ 
  
Sales made but not collected    →→→→→  ___________________  
  
Billed client for work not completed  →→→→→  ___________________  
  
Work completed but under billed Client →→→→→  ___________________ 
  
Retainer Fee received before work performed →→→→→  ___________________ 
  
  
Cost of Goods incurred but unpaid   →→→→→  ___________________ 
         ___________________  
  
Operating Exp incurred but unpaid/ prepaid   →→→→→  ___________________ 
         ___________________  
 
Interest Expense incurred but unpaid  →→→→→  ___________________ 
 
Interest (Investment) Income earned  →→→→→  ___________________ 
      →→→→→  ___________________ 
  
Non-Operating Exp. incurred but unpaid →→→→  ______________ 
 
Income Tax Expense incurred but unpaid  →→→→→  __________________ 
 
Profit earned     →→→→  ______________ 
 
Losses incurred    →→→→  ______________ 
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Dividend Declared / Distributions  →→→→→  __________________ 
  
 
Non-Income Statement Transactions 
 
Receipt of Cash in Excess of  
 Par Stock Value   →→→→→  __________________ 
 
Cash Invested without Stock Issuance  →→→→→  __________________ 
 
Principal Payment on Long Term Debt →→→→→  __________________ 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
Accounts Receivable  Current Portion of Long Term Debt 
Inventory   Other Liabilities 
Income Tax Payable  Dividend Payable 
Notes Payable  Interest Payable 
Accrued Expenses  Cash 
Accounts Payable  Retained Earnings 
Pre-Paid Expenses  Investments 
Billings in Excess of Cost Cost in Excess of Billings 
Capital Surplus  Paid in Capital 
Deferred Revenue  Unearned Revenue 
Current Portion of LTD 
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Current Asset Analysis 

 
Current assets are listed first on the balance sheet because they are the most liquid. They convert 
to cash in less than twelve months. 
 
CASH 
 
Cash consists of cash in banks, cash on hand and marketable securities. It would appear to be the 
most liquid asset and usually is. However, it may be pledged as collateral and not readily 
available to the company. Conservative companies generally have more cash on hand. Other 
conservative companies have less cash since they use the cash to quickly pay down short-term 
bank debt to lower interest costs. Rapidly growing or poorly managed companies have less cash 
available. Lenders should not make decisions based on cash balances kept in the bank unless the 
cash will be placed in a savings certificate to be pledged to secure the loan. Many charged-off 
loans had cash balances, and some very high cash balances, before they got into trouble. 
Companies need a minimum amount of cash to operate and the lender should be sure sufficient 
cash is available. 
 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable are amounts owed to a company for a product sold on credit or a service 
provided for credit. Accounts receivable are listed second on the balance sheet because they turn 
to cash more quickly than inventory. The number of accounts, average size, validity and length 
of relationship are all key issues. For example, the lender will want to know if the business has 
50 accounts averaging $50 each or 50 accounts averaging $1,000 each.  Both present collection 
issues. If in default, it may not be worth the bank’s time to pursue all 50 accounts averaging $50; 
however, it would be worth pursuing the 50 accounts averaging $1,000 each.   
 
Validity is another issue for the lender. Will the borrower’s customer pay the amount owed? The 
receivable may not be valid due to poor product quality. Or was the service or product really sold 
and does the company owing the money have the ability to repay? Credit approval and collection 
processes are key issues in collecting accounts receivable. 
 
The lender will establish advance rates on the accounts receivable depending on the age, mix and 
collection experience of the company. The advance rates will vary by industry and experience. 
 
Allowance for Bad Debt is the amount available to charge off bad debts. The allowance is based 
on past charge-off experience and the current aging. Bad debt expense is charged on the income 
statement each month and accumulates on the balance sheet. When the company has a loss, the 
allowance is charged. If no allowance is listed, then the company directly charges the income 
statement when a bad debt occurs. This can result in large profit variations depending on the 
years’ experience. 
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE MECHANICS 
• Advance Rate 
• Dilution  
• Invoice Size 
• Account Debtors 
• Concentration 

 
• Advance Rate should be based upon: 

– Dilution Rates 
– Invoice Size 
– Nature of Account Debtors 
– Concentration 
– Advance Rate means the amount lender is willing to lend against the asset 

 
• Dilution  

– Measures how much of each sale dollar comes back to the seller or is not 
collected due to.  Includes: 

• Credit Memos 
• Returned Goods (defective) 
• Mis-pricing 
• Invoice Errors 
• Advertising Allowances 
• Trade Discounts 

– Should be calculated monthly and calculate the 12-month average 
 

• The typical Advance Rate against Accounts Receivable assumes a 5% or less Dilution 
Rate.   

• The higher the Dilution Rate, the lower the Advance Rate 
 
A/R Advance Rates   Dilution Rate 

 80% - 85%   5% - 6% 

 75% – 80%   6% - 10% 

 70% - 75%   11%-15% 

 60% and lower  over 15% 
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Accounts Receivable Aging Schedule 

DARCY COMPANY 
Accounts Receivable Aging Schedule 

December 31, 2011 
 Number of Days Past Due 
 
 
Customer 

Account 
Receivable 
Balance 

 
Not Yet 
Due 

 
 
1-30 

 
 
31-60 

 
 
61-90 

 
 
Over 90 

X $5,000     $5,000 

Y $14,000  $12,000 
 

$2,000   

Z 
 

$400    $200 $200 

All others 
 

$808,600 $560,000 $240,000 $2,000 $600 $6,000 

 
Estimated 
uncollectible 
percentage 

$828,000 $560,000 
 
1% 

$252,000 
 
5% 

$4,000 
 
10% 

$800 
 
25% 

$11,200 
 
50% 

 
 
Estimated 
amount 
uncollectible 

 
 
 
$24,400 

 
 
 
$5,600 

 
 
 
$12,600 

 
 
 
$400 

 
 
 
$200 

 
 
 
$5,600 

 

 

Balance in the 

accounts 

receivable 

account in the 

general ledger 

Desired credit balance 

in the allowance for 

uncollectible accounts 
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INVENTORY 

 
Inventory consists of supplies that are used to produce products or goods. These can include: 
 
• Raw material 
 
• Work in process 
 
• Finished goods 
 
Raw material and work in process are only found on manufacturer balance sheets. Raw material 
consists of the raw product used to make a product. It does not include labor. Work in process is 
the amount of products in the process of completion (raw material plus labor). Finished products 
are the finished product including all costs of raw material and labor. 
 
Inventory for a farm operation may include: 
 
• Grain/feed on hand 
 
• Cash invested in growing crops 
 
• Livestock held 
 
• Supplies (chemicals, etc.) 
 
The lender will want to know if the inventory is valued on the LIFO or FIFO method to 
determine the advance rate for collateral purposes. Also, the borrower’s relationship with 
suppliers will need to be considered. Suppliers may also be purchasers of the product or service 
and may have offsetting accounts payable for the lender to consider. 
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INVENTORY 
COMPARISON OF COSTING METHODS 

 
 FIFO LIFO 

 
SALES  $12,000  $12,000 
Less: Cost of Goods Sold     
Opening Inventory -0-  -0-  
+ Purchases:     
500 units @ $8 4,000  4,000  
200 units @ $9 1,800  1,800  
400 units @ $10 4,000  4,000  
600 units @ $11 6,600  6,600  
Total Goods Available for 
Sale 

16,400 
 

 16,400  

Less:  Ending Inventory (7,600)  (5,800) ⧫  
= Cost of Goods Sold  (8,800)  (10,600) 
Gross Profit  3,200  1,400 
Less: Income Taxes  (960)  (420) 

 
= Net Profit  $2,240  $980 

 
 
 600 Units @ $11 = $6,600     
    100 Units @ $10 = $1,000 

$7,600 
 

⧫ 500 Units @ $8 = $4,000 
    200 Units @ $9 = $1,800 

$5,800 
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Determining Ending Inventory Under Weighted-Average Method Using 

Perpetual Inventory Procedure 
           

 
   

 Purchased  Sold  Balance   

Date Units 
Unit 
Cost Total  Units Unit Cost Total  Units 

Unit 
Cost 

 

Total   

Beg. Inv.                 10 $8.00  

 
  

 

$80.00  A new unit cost is 

Mar. 2 10 $8.50  $85            20 8.25 
a 

165.00  calculated after each 

Mar. 10         10 

 

$8.25  
 

$82.50    10 8.25 

  

82.50  purchase. 

May 28 20 8.40 168           30 8.35 
b 

250.50   

July 14         20 8.35 167.00   10 8.35 
  

83.50   

Aug. 12 10 9.00 90           20 8.675 
c 

173.50  The unit cost of sales 

Sept. 7         10 8.675 86.75   10 8.675 

 

86.75  is the most recently 

Oct. 12 20 8.80 176           30 8.758 
d 

262.75  calculated unit cost. 

Nov. 22         20 8.758 175.17*   10 8.758 
  

87.58   

Dec. 21 10 9.10 91      20 $8.929 

e  

$178.58 
  Balance of $178.58 

                      
  

   would agree with 

           
 

  balance already 

    a $165.00 / 20 = $8.25    
 

  existing in the  

    b $250.50 / 30 = $8.35    
 

  merchandise 

    c $173.50 / 20 = $8.675    
 

  inventory account. 

    d $262.75 / 30 = $8.758    
 

   
    e $178.58 / 20 = $8.929    

 
   

    * Rounding difference    
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FIXED ASSETS 
Fixed assets include equipment, land, buildings and leasehold improvements. Equipment consists 
of the various pieces of equipment used to produce a product or provide a service. Equipment is 
valued at cost less depreciation. The amount of depreciation is determined by the age, type and 
depreciation method used. Depreciation is a non-cash expense recognized on the income 
statement and deducted from the fixed asset account. Equipment can also be very specialized or 
used by many industries. Land is valued at cost and does not depreciate. Buildings are listed at 
cost less depreciation. Depending on the time the land and building is owned, it may represent a 
source of hidden equity to the lender. 
 
Leasehold improvements are improvements made to buildings rented or leased by the company. 
They include such items as carpet, lighting and wallpaper. Leasehold improvements represent no 
collateral value to the lender. Equipment, land and building collateral value will vary by the type, 
age and specialty of the asset. For example, a dentist office has less collateral value than an 
office warehouse building, which can be used by many users. 
 
The capacity of the fixed assets and their efficiency is also an issue. If the fixed assets are not 
used to their maximum capacity, growth may be limited in the future or products possibly not 
shipped on time. For example, a farmer can only harvest so much acreage with one combine. Is 
there excess capacity that could be rented out? For a manufacturer, are assets being used 
efficiently and is the plant laid out properly? All these questions are important to the lender 
because they impact profitability. 
 
The lender must consider the age and technology of the equipment. If the equipment is old, it 
may need excessive maintenance causing the company to need a new equipment loan soon. Does 
the company have the ability to repay new term debt? Some equipment, such as telephone and 
computer equipment, has a short technological life. Will the company need to replace this 
equipment frequently and what is the cost impact? 
 

Method 
 

Base Calculation 

Straight-line  Asset _     Estimated  
cost           salvage value 

________base 
Number of years of useful life 

 
Units-of-production Asset _     Estimated 

cost           salvage value 
Base x               units produced this period 

Estimated total units of production 
 

Sum-of-the-years’-digits Asset _     Estimated 
cost           salvage value
  

Base x    number of years of useful life 
remaining     at beginning of accounting 

period_ 
SOYD 

 
Double-declining-balance Asset _     Accumulated 

cost          depreciation 
 

Base x (2 x Straight-line rate) 
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Straight-Line Method 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Sum-of-the-Years'-Digits Method 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Double-Declining-Balance Method 
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Other Assets 
 
Other assets are intangibles, prepaid assets, goodwill, investments and deposits. Intangibles and 
goodwill are assets from the sale of a business. An example of an Other Asset that may be 
purchased and is intangible is a company name. Prepaid assets are amounts paid in advance for a 
service to be provided later. Annual insurance payments are an example of prepaid assets. For 
agricultural businesses, prepaid assets are listed as a current asset. Investments include such 
things as funds invested in other businesses outside the operating business and long-term 
investments such as real estate partnerships. Deposits are amounts paid in advance. For example, 
rental deposits on real estate are paid in advance and returned when the lease is canceled. 
 
Current Liabilities Analysis 
 
Liabilities are listed in order of payment. Liabilities are also current or long-term. Current 
liabilities are those due in less than twelve months. Long-term liabilities are due in over one year. 
Current liabilities are notes payable to banks, notes payable to others, accounts payable, accrued 
expenses and current maturities of long-term debt.  

 
NOTES PAYABLE  
 
 Notes Payable, generally to banks, are short-term borrowings usually used to finance current 
assets. The loans may be due to seasonal or one-time orders. Loans over the winter to finance 
snow blowers are an example of a short-term seasonal note. The loans are due in a single 
payment at the end of the season. Another example is a company, which receives a one-time 
order and needs a short-term note to finance the accounts receivable. The loan is due in a single 
payment and repaid when the receivable is collected. Further information on structuring 
commercial and agricultural loans will be discussed in the next two modules. 
 
The interest rate, terms and collateral are all issues the lender must consider. If the interest rate 
floats, the cost of the loan may increase and the profit from the sale of the service or product will 
decrease. If the note becomes due before the product is sold for cash or before the accounts 
receivable is collected, will a lender be willing to renew the note? 
 
Notes payable to others are amounts owed to suppliers or others. If notes are owed to suppliers 
for inventory, the lender should understand why the inventory couldn’t be sold quickly under 
normal terms to pay the supplier. If the note is for an equipment purchase, the lender will want to 
know why the debt is not structured as a long-term debt. Any liability in this account is unusual 
and should be thoroughly understood by the lender. 
 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
 
Accounts payable are amounts owed to suppliers for product purchased. The amount is interest-
free financing and due usually in 30 days or less. The lender will want to know how many 
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suppliers and the amount of debt owed to each. Also, most suppliers set credit limits. The lender 
must know if the company is at its limit or if it has the availability to purchase more products. If 
the company has only one supplier, there is more risk than if they have many. If the single 
supplier decides not to sell additional product to the company, they may not be able to stay in 
business. 
 
ACCRUED EXPENSES 
 
Accrued expenses are amounts recognized as expenses on the income statement but not yet paid. 
They include accrued interest, wages payable, profit sharing, bonuses, vacation and taxes. The 
timing of the payment must be known along with the length of time until the company needs to  
 
fund the expense. Taxes accrued for longer than the current period are a warning sign of 
problems and the lender will want to determine the company’s ability to stay in business. 
 
CURRENT MATURITIES OF LONG TERM DEBT 
 
Current maturities of long-term debt are the principal portion of the long- term debt due in the 
coming year.  When using this account during the calculation of Cash Flow, always use the prior 
year’s Current Maturities of Long Term Debt in the current year’s calculation because that is the 
amount to be paid in the current year. 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Long-term bank debt is the amount owed over one year. The interest rate, terms, and collateral 
are all issues for the lender to consider. The lender also needs to know if there are any loans 
which have a long-term amortization, but a shorter term due date. If so, will the loans be renewed 
when they come due? 
 
Other long-term debt typically is the amount owed to stockholders or officers of the company. In 
privately held corporations, the owners will frequently take large personal salaries to lower 
corporate taxes. The owner then lends the excess salary to the company. When the company 
repays the loan, the amount is not taxed to the owner. In those cases, the debt should be 
subordinated to the bank. This means the officer or stockholder agrees to be paid after the bank 
debt is repaid. 
 
NET WORTH 
 
Net Worth is made up of stock issued by the company to its owners, retained earnings and 
treasury stock. Stock may be listed as common or preferred. Most privately held companies only 
have common stock. Retained earnings are profits left in the company. Treasury stock is stock 
repurchased by the company from its stockholders. 
 
The lender’s key questions should include: 
 
• Will the company need any long-term debt in the future? 
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• If so, what are they planning to purchase? 
 
• The company has been leaving profits in the company; will they continue to do so? 
 
INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS 
 
The income statement shows the amount of sales/revenues generated and cost/expenses incurred.  
The bottom line of an income statement indicates whether the entity earned a profit or incurred a 
loss.  Unlike a balance sheet, which captures the value of assets, liabilities and net worth at a 
specific point in time, the income statement captures activity over a period of time. The business 
has generated revenues from sales and paid total expenses. The typical income statement is 
structured as follows: 
 
 
 Sales 
 
- Cost of Goods Sold 
 
= Gross Profit 
 
-  Operating expenses (selling expenses, general and administrative expenses) 
 
= Operating income 
 
- Non-operating expenses (interest expense, other nonrecurring expenses) 
 
+ Non-operating income (interest income, other nonrecurring income) 
 
= Net income before tax 
 
+ Taxes 
 
= Net profit after tax 
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Sales 
 
Analysis of the income statement starts with sales, which is the revenue a business receives for 
selling its products or services. Revenues from sales are usually recognized when the product is 
shipped or the service is provided. However, the accounting method may vary from industry to 
industry. For example, a construction company may recognize revenue when the project is 
complete or use the percentage of completion method. If using the completion method and the 
project is 25% completed during the first quarter, then revenues for the first quarter of the project 
are recognized.  If using the completion accounting method, no revenues would be recognized 
until the project is finished 
. 
 
An important factor when analyzing revenues is the impact of accrual basis of accounting and 
cash basis of accounting on revenues. Accrual accounting matches revenues with costs and 
expenses regardless if cash is collected (from revenue) or spent on costs and expenses.  Cash 
accounting recognizes revenue, costs and expenses when cash is received or paid. Accrual 
accounting is a better measure of how the borrower has managed assets and how profitable the 
operating entity is. 
 
A good indicator of a company’s performance is the change in sales level over several 
statements. By comparing revenues over several years, the lender can begin to determine 
management’s decisions over time. It is worthwhile for the lender to note the change in dollars 
and percentage over time. 
 
The sales for a company for the last three years (in thousands) are as follows: 
 
  2019 2020 2021 
 sales $506 $501 $730 
 percentage change        N/A (.8%) 45% 
 
Sales decreased from 2019 to 2020 and then increased in 2021. It is helpful to express Sales 
activity by the percentage change and not by the change in absolute dollars. With a decrease 
followed by growth, the lender will want to know the cause of each. If the industry has grown 
consistently at 30%, then ALSC is not keeping up with the industry. The lender will want to 
know why. However, if the industry is growing at a 5% rate annually, the lender will want to 
understand why they are able to grow faster in year 16. 
 
Analyzing revenue by sales mix is also a useful analysis.  For example, if 2019 sales are made up 
of 28,000 units while 2020 sales are made up of 19,600 units, then the average sale price has 
increased from $18.07 to $25.56.  The company has less unit sales, however, sales only 
decreased by .8%.  This should raise concerns with the lender. If the 2021 sales are made up of 
33,000 sales, then the number of unit sales is up, but the average sale has decreased to $22.  
 
 If the company raised its prices 25% per year, then sales by unit were down in 2020. If prices 
were raised 5% per year, then sales by unit were up in 2021. Price increases are used to offset 
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increased production costs and operating costs or to improve profitability. Price increases are 
dependent on the industry served. Some industries will tolerate price increases regularly and 
others will not.  Be wary of companies utilizing price increases to show a higher level of 
revenue.  Few products or services are price inelastic. 
 
A substantial jump in the level of sales from one year to the next may be attributable to a one-
time sale of an unusually costly product or service. For ALSC, sales jumped substantially in 
2021. The lender may determine they had a one-time sale on factory closeout items that will not 
reoccur in 2022. Again, the lender needs to understand the reason and its impact on the 
company’s future performance and borrowing needs. 
 
 
In all cases, the lender’s most important question is: What is causing the change? With this 
understanding, the lender can begin to assess risk. 
 
For some industries, the lender will also want to know about sales backlogs, discounts and 
returns. Sales backlogs will give the lender an indication about future revenues. Discounts are 
amounts given for early payment on accounts receivable. Returns are decreases in sales usually 
caused by poor quality merchandise. Both can be an indication of problems, depending on the 
industry. 
 

Cost of Goods Sold 
 
Cost of goods sold are the “direct” costs incurred primarily by manufacturers for producing their 
product. For wholesalers and retailers, the cost of goods sold is the price paid to purchase 
finished goods. For service businesses, there is no cost of goods sold as no product is purchased 
or manufactured for resale.  For farms, there are no cost of goods sold on the Schedule F since all 
cost of production expenses are included as expenses on the Schedule F. 
 .  
Cost of goods sold for a manufacturer is calculated as follows: 

 
Beginning inventory 

 
+ Raw Material 

 
+ Labor Costs 

 
+ Manufacturing Overhead 

 
= Cost of goods available for sale 

 
- Work in Process 
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- Ending Inventory 

` 
= Cost of Goods Sold 

 
The cost of goods sold for wholesalers and retailers is calculated as follows: 
 
 

Beginning inventory 
 

+ Purchases of Finished Products 
 

- Less Ending Inventory 
 

=Cost of Goods Sold 
 

 
 

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN 
 
Gross profit is calculated by subtracting cost of goods sold from sales. This is the money left to 
pay operating expenses and taxes.  
 
 2019 2020  2021  
 Sales $506  $501 $730 
 -Cost of goods sold $350  $353 $517 
 =Gross profit $156  $148 $213 
 
It would appear cost of goods and gross profits are increasing. However, the best way to analyze 
cost of goods sold is not in dollars but in percentages of sales. Stated as percentages the numbers 
would be: 
  2019 2020 2021 
 Sales 100% 100% 100% 

Cost of goods sold 69.2 %    70.4 %            70.7 % 
Gross profit 30.8 %             29.6 %            29.3 % 

 
The percentages affirm that the company’s gross profit is declining. When analyzing the various 
expenses, it is good to think of them in terms of one percent changes. For example, the 1.2% 
change from 2019 to 2020 is actually a $6,012 change (1.2% of  $501m sales). The company 
may not be passing on price increases of products, or managing a changing sales mix. 
 
When analyzing cost of goods sold, the lender must also know what type of inventory valuation 
method was used. The two methods are first-in, first-out (FIFO) and last-in, first-out (LIFO). The 
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cost of goods sold is calculated using either the FIFO or LIFO method. Companies using the 
LIFO method during inflation will reflect lower gross profit margins and generally lower net 
profit margins. 
 
Another consideration in analyzing cost of goods sold for manufacturers is the depreciation 
method used. Depreciation is a non-cash expense recognized on the income statement for certain 
fixed assets. Land is not depreciated as a fixed asset. The length of the depreciation period and 
the type of depreciation method for tax purposes are set for specific categories of assets by IRS 
code. This is not the case for managerial depreciation. 
 
Variations in the way companies depreciate their fixed assets affect the income statement and the 
balance sheet. Again, two companies may do everything identical except use different 
depreciation methods, and one will appear more profitable than the other. 
 
Operating Expenses Analysis 

 
Operating expenses are costs not directly related to the production or making a product or 
purchasing finished goods. Operating expenses are considered controllable expenses in contrast 
to cost of goods sold. For example, the business owner may have only two or three supplier 
choices at similar costs, but may control spending expenses by choosing to rent or buy a 
building, pay employees by commission or flat wages and so forth. For farm operations, 
operating expenses are related to the production of crop and livestock products. 
 
Operating expenses are usually variable or semi-fixed, but may become fixed. For example, if an 
owner decides to purchase a building, then the mortgage payment becomes a fixed payment. By 
separating the operating expenses this way, the lender can better determine the total costs a 
company must cover whether it sells any product or not.  Operating expenses for business 
operations include the following: 

 
•Owner’s salary 
•Sales salaries 
•General salary expenses 
•Rent 
•Marketing expenses 
•Insurance 
•Utilities 
•Maintenance 
•Profit sharing 

 
Operating expenses for farm operations include all expenses involved in producing the crop or 
livestock product, such as: 
 

•Feed 
•Seed 
•Fertilizer 
•Owner withdrawals 
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•Repairs 
•Depreciation 

  
Certain expenses may get out of hand if not monitored and the lender must be prepared to ask 
why expenses are changing and what impact the changes have on the company. Again, operating 
expenses are best expressed in total dollars and as a percentage of sales. 

 
Below is an example of operating expenses and their respective percentages: are: 
 
         2019        2020         2021 
 
Sales   506 100%  $501 100%  $730 100% 
 
Cost of Gods Sold  350 62.2%  353 70.4%  517 70.7% 
 
Gross Profit   156 30.8%  148 29.6%  213 29.3% 
 
Operating Expenses  145 28.9%  146 29.0%  177 24.3%  
 
Operating Income   11   1.9%     2   0.6%    36  5.0% 

       
Here is the beauty of margining or common sizing.  From 2019 to 16, operating expenses 
increased in actual dollars but as a percentage of sales they decreased from 28.9% to 24.3%.  If 
operating expenses were analyzed in actual dollars, the wrong conclusion could be drawn.  The 
decrease in operating expenses as a percent of sales had a positive impact on profitability in 
2021.  The 470 basis-point (4.7%) decrease in 2021 improved the company’s earnings over 
$34m when viewed as percentages of sales (730 x .047) even though operating expenses 
increased in actual dollars.  This result could only occur when comparing operating expenses to 
a common base or factor, which are sales. 
 
From this information above, the lender should dissect the operating expenses further to 
determine which expenses are causing the increase and check to see if they are increasing as a 
percent of sales.  If they are, the lender must comment on this in a credit memo if the increase is 
major.   
 
The last categories are interest income, interest expense, other income and other expenses. 
Interest income occurs when a company has extra dollars on deposit for usually short periods of 
time. Interest expense is the interest charged on debt. Other income and expenses include: 
 

• Income from renting out excess space 
 

• Gains on sale of assets 
 

• Losses on sale of assets and Non-recurring expenses which are neither cost of 
goods sold nor operating expenses 
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After adding interest income and other income and subtracting interest expense and other 
expenses, the result is net profit before tax. This is followed by taxes and net profit after tax.  
 
The company has consistent other income; the majority due to an investment the company made 
in a limited partnership. In 202020, the other income increased due to a one-time insurance 
refund.  
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SPREADING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Spreading Financial Statements is one of the initial steps taken by the Credit Analyst.  It involves 
the imputing of information from a customers or prospect’s Balance Sheet and Income Statement 
into a computer software program or manually onto a spread sheet to facilitate an easier 
comparison of the information over several periods.  When the information has been inserted 
into a computer software program, key calculations are then produced including Credit and 
Financial Ratios, Cash Flow Analysis utilizing the Indirect and Uniform Cash Analysis Methods 
and the Reconciliation of Retained Earnings and Net Worth. 

 

The key to remember in the Spreading Financing Statements is to be consistent in the input 
process so that the output comparison process can be more accurate.  For example, items spread 
as Cost of Goods Sold should be included in that category for each year being analyzed.  
Otherwise, comparing Margins from year to year will be meaningless and causing the analyst to 
reach an erroneous decision.  

 

The next key is to provide enough information on the spread financial statements to allow the 
user to make a proper assessment without overwhelming the user with immaterial and 
unnecessary data. 

 

A financial spread output of Bulldog-Tech Manufacturing follows.  Please review it and discuss 
the quality of the Spread Sheet and make any recommendation to improve the output. 
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ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS: 2017 % 2018 % 2019

Total Current Assets -$                         -$                        -$                        

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

Gross Fixed Assets

Accumulated Depreciation

Net Fixed Assets

OTHER ASSETS:

Total Other Assets -$                         -$                        -$                        

TOTAL ASSETS -$                         -$                        -$                        
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LIABILITES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 2017 % 2018 % 2019

Total Current Liabilities

LONGTERM LIABILITIES

Total Long-Term Debt

Total Liabilities -$                         # -$                        # -$                        

STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY

Total Stockholders Equity -$                         -$                        -$                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY -$                         # -$                        # -$                        
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STATEMENT OF OPERATION 

2017 2018 2019

Sales

Cost of Goods Sold

Gross Profit

S G & A Expenses

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income / Loss
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CREDIT ANALYSIS 
 
 

Credit (Risk) Analysis is one of the most important functions performed 
by banks.  Since interest and fee income from loans represent the largest 
source of revenue for banks, it is vital that thorough credit analysis be 
performed before loans are approved and funded.  Credit Analysis not 
only considers the financial condition of prospective borrowers, but also 
considers non-financial factors which may impact the ability to repay 
loans. 
 
Proper Credit Analysis starts with analyzing the financial statements 
followed by reporting the findings in a Credit Memorandum, then 
recommending a loan structure that provides the borrower what they 
need while providing the bank with the highest possible chance of being 
repaid.  There is a very thin line between Financial Analysis and Credit 
Analysis because many of the techniques utilized to make an assessment 
overlap.  However, the biggest difference is that Credit Analysis is 
appropriate when money is on the line.  It focuses on analyzing financial 
and non-financial factors with the primary objective of determining the 
ability of a borrower. 
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TYPES OF ANALYSIS 
 
 
 

• Common Sizing: Balance Sheet items as a % of Total Assets 
 

• Margining:  Income Statement items as a % of Net Sales 
 
 

• Percent Change: Amount change shown as a percentage 
 

• Ratios:  Mathematical relationship among logically related factors 
 

• Cash Flow:  Determination of cash generation or usage from items on   
the Income Statement and from the changes in the Balance 

    Sheet items from one period to another period 
 

• Comparative:  Matching or contrasting to similar peer or industry data 
 

• Trend:  Analysis of changes over at least a 3 year period 
 

• Indexing:  Changes related to a designated base year 
 

• Forecasting:  Forecasting financial statements to observe the likely  
 based upon management’s assumptions 

 
• Breakeven:  Determination of the level of Sales required to cover Fixed  

Costs 
 

• Working Capital: Determine ability to meet current debt payments and to 
measure working assets efficiency 

 
• Sustainable Growth: Rate at which a company can grow and maintain a certain 

level of leverage (Debt to Worth position) 
 

• Net Working  
Investment:  The ability to calculate the financing gap between the receipt  

   of cash from the Operating Cycle and the need pay current   
            obligations  

 
• Financial Impact  

Analysis:   The ability to calculate the financial impact on cash flow   
  from changing credit ratios and income statement margins 
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INDUSTRY CHARACTERISTICS AND INDUSTRY LIFE CYCLES 

Understanding industry characteristics allows the lender to know how industry, business and 
management risks fit into the underwriting process and how to use this information to structure 
loans so that the highest probability of repayment can be achieved. You will be able to develop 
an understanding of the unique characteristics of various industries and the expected impact on 
the financial statements. Industries, products, and services go through life cycles bankers need to 
understand because it will dictate the proper management technique required to be successful.  

RISKS 

What is meant by Industry, Business, and Management Risks? 

 

List the most common risk factors that will affect an ndustry, Business and Management 

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
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TYPES OF INDUSTRY 

Bankers will encounter borrowers from various industries in their attempt to obtain credit 
accommodations. As such, an understanding of the diverse types of businesses and their unique 
risks is paramount in credit analysis. The purpose of the next exercise is to assist credit 
professionals in recognizing these risk factors and anticipate expected findings on the financial 
data present for examination.  

 Please provide an example of two types of businesses  in each of the following industry types, 
and identify the unique risks involved for those types of business. Your choice of businesses 
should be one in which you have experienced personally at your financial institution and should 
display distinctive characteristics although they belong to the same industry. 

For example, in the Service Industry, a service provider could be a Hospital or Airline Company 
compared to an Accounting Firm and Plumber. Both sets are service providers, but they have a 
completely financial profile. 

Next, determine the financial statement considerations for each type of business. Financial 
statement considerations include:  

• Anticipated Concentration of Assets and Liabilities on the Balance Sheet 

• Anticipated Funding Sources of the Assets 

• Anticipated Sources of Revenue and Types of Cost and Expenses on the Income 
Statement 

• Expected Net Profit Margin Associated with this Type of Business (Hint:  Net Profit 
Margin is Tied to the Value Added for a Product or Service Sold. The Higher the Value 
Added the Higher the Net Profit Margin Should Be) 

 

MANUFACTURERS 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 
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WHOLESALERS 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations 

 

RETAILERS 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations 

 

SERVICE INDUSTRIES 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial statement characteristics. 

 

AGRIBUSINESS 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 
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CONSTRUCTION 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Conditions: 
 

 

REAL ESTATE: 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 
 

 

EDUCATION: 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 
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NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS: 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 
 

 

TOURISM: 

• Types: 
 

• Risks: 
 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 

SOURCES OF INFORMATION 

If you are seeking information on a particular industry, what are sources of 
information available to bankers? List as many possible sources of information: 

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
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MACROECONOMIC INFLUENCES 

Companies and individuals are influenced by macroeconomic influences to some degree. 
Macroeconomic influences are defined as those factors that can impact the normal operations of 
an economic unit or individual. They are usually beyond anyone’s control and can be caused by 
a myriad of tensions including change is interest rates, inflation, unemployment, supply/demand, 
wars, government regulations, housing starts, etc... 

Macroeconomic influences also affect business or economic cycles. A business cycle is a 
recurring but irregular long term period of alternating periods of economic growth and decline. 

The unofficial peaks and troughs of the U.S. cycle are determined by the National Bureau of 
Economic Research in Cambridge, Massachusetts. NBER identifies the peaks and trough based 
on its assessments of factors such as gross domestic product (GDP) and employment growth. 

Understanding the economic cycles and its implication enables the lender to answer these key 
questions such as 

1. Which companies are most susceptible to a downturn in the economic cycle? 
 

2. Which companies will anticipate, respond to, and manage the impact of economic cycles 
most effectively? 
 

3. Which companies have financial conditions that are strong enough to withstand the 
effects of an economic cycle downturn? 

An economic (business) cycle has four stages as follows: 

• Early Expansion 
• Late Expansion 
• Early Contraction 
• Late Contraction 
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The Business Cycle 
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BUSINESS CYCLE STAGES 

Early Expansion 

Interest rates are relatively low, and consumer and business credit is plentiful. Sales and profits 
usually increase; companies expand physical plants, build inventories, and are optimistic about 
the future. Perhaps they add employees, start new business lines, or introduce new products. 
Consumers have elevated levels of disposable income, partly from secure jobs and increasing 
wages and partly from available credit. 

Late Expansion 

As the expansion continues consumer and business spending and demand for credit increase, 
pushing interest rates up. Capacity utilization climbs and prices stabilize for goods and services. 
Finally, the higher cost of credit and of goods and services begins to dampen consumer spending 
and business expansion. 

 

 

 



  
BANKERS INSIGHT GROUP. LLC 50 

 

Early Contraction 

As a period of contraction begins, consumers and businesses are not as optimistic about the 
future. Fewer new projects of addictions are begun. Less credit is demanded as borrowers try to 
reduce reliance on debt and become more liquid. 

Late Contraction 

As the economy slows down, unemployment goes up and interest rates gradually fall. Credit is 
available to only the most creditworthy borrowers. Eventually, suppliers of goods and services 
shrink to the point that businesses begin to see new opportunities for growth. The expansion 
cycle begins again. 

There is no standard duration for any cycle stage, nor is the height of the peak or the depth of the 
trough predictable or consistent. According to NBER research, since 1945, the average length 
ranking from 32 months to 116 months during that time. The Federal Reserve Bank watches 
economic indicators very carefully, as a key role of the central bank is to manage interest rates in 
an attempt to ease the transition between cycles. 

What type of factors may influence whether a given business or industry is affected by the 
current business cycle stage? 

•  
•  
•  
•  
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SUSCEPTIBILITY TO RECESSION 

Studies that evaluated recessions since 1977 discovered a variety of industries that are or are not 
susceptible to recessions. The results are shown below: 

Highly Susceptible Industries 

• Construction 
• Household furniture and appliance 
• Personnel supply services 
• Plumbing supplies 
• Stone, clay, and miscellaneous mineral products 
• Metal coating and engraving 
• Concrete, gypsum, and plaster product 
• Cutlery, hand tools, and hardware 
• Carpet and rugs 
• Motor vehicles 
• Equipment 
• Retail trade 

Many of these industries provide products and services that consumers and businesses can 
postpone purchasing during a recession. Others are tied directly or indirectly to construction 
industries, which are particularly recession prone. 

Less Susceptible Industries 

• Beverages 
• Agricultural chemicals 
• Accounting and auditing 
• Educational services 
• Commercial sports 
• Communications equipment 
• Membership organizations 
• Museums, botanical gardens 
• Pharmaceuticals 
• Insurance 
• Food-Related 
• Energy 
• Medical and Health-Related 
• Federal, State and Local Government-Related Services 
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Many of these industries provide necessities or public goods for which demand remains strong 
throughout the business cycle. 

Other industries in the list illustrate that demand for entertainment is resilient, such as 
professional sports and museums. Similarly, many economists observe that sin industries, such 
as tobacco and liquor, are recession-resistant. 

There can be exceptions to an industry’s general susceptibility to recession. One such exception 
is the influence of technology or innovation on demand for a product. For example, in a 
recession when companies must reduce costs to survive, modern technology that introduces 
efficiency and thus lowers costs can be very appealing. While the weakest companies may not 
have the means to acquire the technology, stronger companies with the support of capital 
providers often acquire the technology to reduce current costs. They also achieve permanent 
efficiency improvements that will pay off significantly when demand for their own product 
rebounds during a recovery. This is an example of how a product’s life cycle stage can influence 
a company’s susceptibility to business cycle downturns. 

What financial characteristics (safeguards) should be evident in companies that are prone to 
recessionary effects? 

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
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LIFE CYCLES 

Industries, products, and companies evolve through predictable stages of development, and 
understanding these stages helps us interpret financial and non-financial challenges a company 
faces or is likely to face. 

The traditional stages of a life cycle are depicted in the following chart and generally apply to all 
the life cycle variations we will consider in this course: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Emerging   Growth  Mature   Decline 

 

Emerging 

• Products are introduced to potential consumers. It is uncertain at this point if there will be 
acceptance and at what economic value. 

Growth 

• After emerging or introduction stage, the industry enters the acceptance stage and as sales 
grow, management focuses on the issues of price, marketing, and service. 

Mature 

• Competitors enter the market and equilibrium is reached between supply and demand. 

Decline 

• Sales drop as demand falls. Unless innovation in the product(s), packaging or delivery 
occurs, the industry as a whole will fail. 
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TYPES OF BUSINESS AND STAGE 

Knowing characteristics of the industry and stage in the life cycle is necessary to determine the 
type of financial products needed to support the business. 

The next exercise will help you to recognize the life cycle certain industries, companies and 
products are situated and to determine the specific financial services need based on the stages of 
the industry life cycle. 

Provide two examples of industries in each of the following stages: 

Emerging 

•   

 

•   

Growth 

•   

 

•   

Maturing 

•   

 

•   

 

Declining 

•   

 

•   
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IDENTIFYING SEASONAL RISKS 

Seasonal risks are generally some of the easiest industry risks to spot, but it is appropriate to 
mention them as we wrap up our discussion of a company’s cyclical influences. The seasonal 
cycle is a temporary significant expansion of the operating cycle. 

What are some examples of businesses whose sales are seasonally influenced? 

•  
•  
•  
•  

These companies naturally have periods in which inventory swells in anticipation of seasonal 
sales, followed by a period of exceptionally high receivables caused by the high sales season. 

Companies such as candy makers can have a series of seasonal cycles within one year, when the 
operating cycles expands quickly and significantly to accommodate a season (religious holidays, 
Halloween, Valentine’s Day, Mother’s Day, etc…) and then returns to its earlier level in between 
seasons. 

Keep in mind that seasonal risks are not limited to companies that maintain inventory. Seasonal 
service companies such as amusement parks may incur seasonal expenses (labor, security, ride 
refurbishment) that are not fully variable and may require up front financing, before a season is 
predicted to fail (tornado, hurricane, or even terrorist threats). 

What are the primary risks to a bank when lending to companies with seasonal risks? 

• If the season fails--such as a dry winter if a company sells road salt to municipalities--line 
of credit outstanding to finance unsold inventory or pre-season expenditures may wait 
nearly a year to be repaid. 
 

• Lenders must understand the nature of a company’s seasonal risks, consider the 
probability of a failed season, and evaluate both management’s strategy and the 
company’s financial resilience to respond to such an event. 

 

Name as many industries and / or companies with seasonal or cyclical risks and what should the 
bank’s response be for each of these types of risks? 
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RATIO ANALYSIS 
 
I believe all borrowers should be scrutinized to determine their five vital signs of survival, which 
are critical for an entity’s success.  The method I recommend to check those vital signs is 
referred to as: 
 

LLAMOPCAFLO 
(Pronounced: la-mop-ca-flo) 

 
The five vital signs for all economic entities are: 
 
LIQUIDITY 
 
LEVERAGE 
 
ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
OPERATIONS 
 
CASH FLOW  
 
If you stop and think about it, an entity’s financial woes occur in its inability to pay current debts 
as they come due (Liquidity); or debt on their balance sheet is more than the owners’ equity 
(Leverage); or management is not utilizing their assets (or may have the wrong assets) to 
generate sufficient sales or to create profits (Asset Management); or the company may lose 
money as a result of their operations (Operations); or the company may not be able to generate 
sufficient cash flow to sustain the company or to pay down long-term debt (Cash Flow).  If 
LLAMOPCAFLO is utilized, these issues will easily be uncovered. 
 
Please be aware that LLAMOPCAFLO measures an entity’s financial factors only.  Non-
Financial factors such as the character of management or the condition of the economy are not 
measured through LLAMOPCAFLO therefore; it is recommended that two elements of the Five 
C’s of Credit should be utilized in conjunction with LLAMOPCAFLO in order to develop a full 
assessment of an entity.  Those two elements are the first and last measurements of the Five C’s 
of credit, namely Character 9of management) and Conditions (of the economic environment.  As 
a result, LLAMOPCAFLO has now been transformed into: 
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LLAMOPCAFLOCC 
(Pronounced: La-Mop-Ca-Flock) 

Before LLAMOPCAFLOCC is measured, a simple calculation can be performed to determine if 
the proportion of Assets, Liabilities and Net Worth are in line with the type of business being 
analyzed.  This Measurement is called Common Sizing the Balance Sheet and Margining the 
Income Statement 
 
COMMON SIZING 
 
 
Balance Sheet 
 
Calculation: Asset Accounts  Liability Accounts  Equity Accounts 
  Total Assets      Total Assets     Totals Assets 
 
Income Statement 
 
Calculation: Cost of Goods Sold  Gross Profit   Expenses Operating/Net Profit  
   Sales        Sales     Sales         Sales 
 
For the Balance Sheet, Common-Sizing allows the analyst to determine which asset accounts 
represent the majority of invested cash and where support of those assets are derived (either debt 
or equity).  It also allows the analyst to measure the shift in assets, liabilities and net worth as a 
percentage of Total Assets. 
 
For the Income Statement, Common-Sizing (or margining) allows the analyst to determine the 
increase and decrease of income, costs and expenses in relations to the change in sales.  It is not 
unusual for operating expenses to increase when sales increase. This is expected.  However, if 
the increase in expenses as a percent of sales (Operating Expenses divided by Sales) exceeds 
previous periods percentages, this increase should be vested further.   
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LIQUIDITY 
 
Liquidity is a measure of the quality and adequacy of current (short-term) assets to meet current 
(short-term) obligations as they come due. 
 
Current Ratio 
 
Calculation: Current Assets  
  Current Liabilities 
 
This ratio gives a general indication of a firm’s ability to pay its current obligations.  Generally, 
the higher the Current Ratio, the greater the cushion between current obligations and a firm’s 
ability to pay.  A benchmark for this ratio has been 2 to 1.  The higher the ratio reflects more 
current assets available to cover Current Liabilities.  However, the composition and quality of 
Current Assets is a critical factor in the analysis of an individual firm’s liquidity. 
 
Quick Ratio 
 
Calculation: Cash + Marketable Securities + Accounts Receivable  

Current Liabilities 
 
Also known as the “Acid Test Ratio”, it is a refinement of the Current Ratio and is a more 
conservative measure of liquidity.  The numerator from the Current Ratio is adjusted by omitting 
inventory (because of obsolesce, slow moving items and encumbered items).  The ratio expresses 
the degree to which a company’s Current Liabilities are covered by the most liquid Current 
Assets.  Generally, any value of less than 1 to 1 implies a dependency on inventory or other 
Current Assets to liquidate short-term debt 
 
Working Capital 
 
Calculation:   Current Assets minus Current Liabilities 
 
Working Capital is the amount of Current Assets remaining after the Current Liabilities are paid.  
This excess cash can be used to repay long term debt, invest in long term assets or pay a 
dividend.  The higher the working capital the stronger the entity.  
 
    2017   2018   2019 
 
Current Ratio   1.98   2.41   2.94 
 
Quick Ratio   0.67   0.71   1.10 
 
Working Capital  1,878,000  2,005,000            2,352,000 
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Getting Behind The Numbers Hint: 
 
The stronger the ratio trend the more you need to check the quality of the current assets serving 
as the numerator.  Here are some check points: 
 

1. Check to see if there are any restrictions to Marketable Securities or can they be 
liquidated with ease and within a short period of time 

 
2. Check the quality of Accounts Receivable by examining an aging schedule, dilution rate, 

issuance of credit memos and credit terms 
 

3. Check the quality of Inventory by reviewing the inventory lists and noting items that do 
not turnover regularly 

 
 
Defensive-Interval Ratio 
 
Neither the current ratio nor the acid-test ratio gives a complete explanation of the current debt-
paying ability of the company. The matching of current assets with current liabilities assumes 
that the current assets will be employed to pay off the current liabilities.  
 
Some analysts argue that a better measure of liquidity is provided by the defensive-interval ratio, 
which measures the time span a firm can operate on present liquid assets without resorting to 
revenues from next year’s sources. This ratio is computed by dividing defensive assets (cash, 
marketable securities and net receivables) by the average monthly expenditures from operations. 
Monthly expenditures are computed by dividing cost of goods sold plus operating expenses by 
12 months. 
 
Calculation:  Cash + Marketable Securities + Accounts Receivable  
    Average Monthly Costs and Expenses 
 
 
     2017   2018   2019 
 
Defensive- Interval Ratio  1.90   2.45   2.85 
Days        57      74      85 
 
The next set of ratios is known as Activity Ratios and is included in with the Liquidity because 
they determine when these assets are to be converted into cash.  In order to know the rational 
why certain accounts on the balance sheet are matched with certain accounts on Income 
Statement, the following chart may prove helpful. 
 
I recall when studying accounting in college, one of my college professor stated that the Income 
Statement causes items on the Balance Sheet to appear.  I did not quite grasp the concept back 
then but I certainly understand it now because, whatever happens during the operations of a 
company will end up on the balance sheet as an asset, liability or in the equity section. 
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Income Statement    Balance Sheet 
 
 Sales     →→→→→  Accounts Receivable 
 
 Cost of Goods Sold     →→→→→  Inventory 
       Accounts Payable 
 
 Operating Expenses   →→→→→  Accrued Expenses 
 
 Income Tax Expense  →→→→→  Income Tax Payable 
 
 Dividend Declared     →→→→→  Dividend Payable 
 
 
Accounts Receivable Turnover Rate 
 
Calculation:          Net Sales  
  Accounts Receivable 
 
It measures the liquidity of Accounts Receivable by calculating the number of times trade 
Accounts Receivable turn over during the year.  The higher the turnover of Accounts Receivable, 
the shorter the time between sale and cash collection.  For example, if Accounts Receivable 
turnover rate is 12 times this year versus 8 times last year, it means the company received 4 more 
payments from its customers this year than last year.  Because this ratio is calculated using one 
day’s Accounts Receivable as of the statement date, seasonal fluctuations are not taken into 
account. 
 
 
Accounts Receivable Turnover in Days 
 
Calculation: 365 days (or the number of days in a period being measured) 
   Accounts Receivable Turnover Rate 
 
This figure expresses the average number of days that Accounts Receivable are outstanding.  
Generally, the higher the ratio (i.e., the greater number of days outstanding), the greater the 
probability of delinquencies in Accounts Receivable. 
 
 
Inventory Turnover Rate 
 
Calculation: Cost of Goods Sold  
       Inventory 
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It measures the liquidity of Inventory by calculating the number of times Inventory turns over 
during the year.  The higher the turnover of Inventory, the shorter the time between the purchase 
of raw material need to produce finished goods for sale (for a manufacturer); or the purchase of 
completed goods for re-sale (for a wholesaler and retailer).  Because this ratio is calculated using 
one day’s Inventory as of the statement date, seasonal fluctuations are not taken into account. 
 
Inventory Turnover in Days 
 
Calculation: 365 days (or the number of days in a period being measured) 
   Inventory Turnover Rate 
 
This figure expresses the average number of days it takes for cash used to purchase raw material 
or finished goods inventory to be sold to the end user.  Generally, the higher the number of 
Inventory days outstanding, the more the need for cash to carry this inventory.  
 
 
Inventory to Net Working Capital 
 
Calculation: Inventory 
Working Capital 
 
This ratio measures the relationship between the least liquid of the current assets and the amount 
of free, or uncommitted, current assets of an entity.  If the ratio of inventory to working is less 
that 1 (say .75 or 75%) it means the remaining 25% of net working capital is made up of highly 
liquid assets that would be able to supply additional cash needs beyond the current liabilities. 
 
The generally accepted standard for this ratio is between 75 to 100 percent, since it is usually 
desirable for current assets minus inventory to at least equal current liabilities.  The standard, 
however, depends upon specific situation. 
 
 
Accounts Payable Turnover Rate 
 
Calculation: Cost of Goods Sold 
  Accounts Payable 
 
It measures how often Accounts Payable are paid by calculating the number of times trade 
Accounts Payable turn over during the year.  The higher the turnover of Accounts Payable, the 
shorter the time of payment between the purchase of goods and the payment for those goods.   
For example, if Accounts Payable turnover rate is 12 times this year versus 8 times last year, it 
means the company issued 4 more payments to its suppliers this year than last year.  Because this 
ratio is calculated using one day’s Accounts Payable as of the statement date, seasonal 
fluctuations are not taken into account. 
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Accounts Payable Turnover in Days 
 
Calculation: 365 days (or the number of days in a period being measured) 
   Accounts Payable Turnover Rate 
 
This figure expresses the average number of days that Accounts Payable are outstanding.  
Generally, the higher the ratio (i.e., the greater number of days outstanding), the greater the 
probability of the company being delinquent with its suppliers and other creditors. 
 
 
      2017  2018  2019 
 
A/R Turnover Rate    7.0  8.1  7.4 
 
A/R Turnover Days    52  45  49 
 
Inventory Turnover Rate   2.9  2.7  3.1 
 
Inventory Turnover Days   128  135  116 
 
Accounts Payable Turnover Rate  6.9  13.0  13.5 
 
Accounts Payable Turnover Days  53  28  27 
 
Inventory to Working Capital   1.31  1.14  0.94 
 
 
LEVERAGE 
 
Leverage refers to the proportion of funds invested in an entity by the creditors in the form of 
loans and the owners in the form of equity.  Highly leverage firms (those with heavy debt in 
relation to net worth) are more vulnerable to business downturn than those with lower debt to 
worth positions.  While leverage ratios help measure this vulnerability, it does greatly depend on 
the requirements of particular industry groups. 
 
Debt to Net Worth 
 
Calculation: Total Debt 
  Tangible Net Worth  
 
This ratio indicates the extent to which the company’s funds are contributed by creditors 
compared to the owners.  It expresses the degree of protection provided by the owners for the 
creditors.  A low ratio generally indicates greater long-term debt paying ability.  A firm with a 
low debt/worth ratio usually has greater flexibility to borrow in the future.  A highly leveraged 
company has a limited ability to absorb more debt. 
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Debt to Total Assets  
 
Calculation: Total Debt  
  Total Assets  
 
 
This ratio indicates the extent to which the assets of a company are supported by debt.  It should 
always be below a 1 to 1 mark.  The lower the ratio the less creditors have at risk in relations to 
the investment by owners.  It is another way to view leverage by determining if creditors or 
owners are providing the majority support of the assets. 
 
Net Fixed Assets to Equity 
 
Calculation: Net Fixed Assets  
                   Tangible Net Worth 
 
This ratio is most useful for companies in which Fixed Assets represent a major portion of Total 
Assets.  It measures the extent to which owners’ equity (capital) has been invested in plant and 
equipment (Fixed Assets).  A lower ratio indicates a proportionately smaller investment in Fixed 
Assets in relation to Net Worth, and a better cushion for creditors in case of liquidation.  
Similarly, a higher ratio would indicate the opposite.  The presence of substantial leased Fixed 
Assets, which are not shown on the balance sheet) may deceptively lower this ratio. 
 
 
     2017   2018   2019 
 
Debt to Tangible Net Worth  1.33   1.09   0.93 
 
Debt to Total Assets   51.7   52.2   48.3 
 
Net Fixed Assets to TAN  0.38   0.41   0.39 
 
 
ASSET MANAGEMENT (EFFICIENCY) RATIOS 
 
Asset Management or Efficiency Ratios measures management’s ability to utilize assets to 
generate revenue or create value (i.e. generate a profit). 
 
Asset Efficiency or Asset Turnover Ratio 
 
Calculation: Total Sales 
  Total Assets  
This ratio measures management’s ability to use its Total Assets to its best advantage.  Since 
sales are the numerator, it measures the ability of Total Assets to generate sales.  A lower ratio 
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from earlier periods indicates that the existing assets owed at the time the ratio was calculated 
were not as efficient in generating sales as in the past.  This ratio is useful when considering a 
loan request to increase operating and non operating assets. 
 
Net Fixed Assets Efficiency or Turnover Ratio 
 
Calculation: Total Sales  
  Net Fixed Assets 
 
This ratio is most useful for companies in which Fixed Assets represent a major portion of Total 
Assets.  It measures the extent to which Fixed Assets can generate revenue or sales.  A falling 
ratio indicates the existing Net Fixed Assets are not as efficient in generating sales as they were 
in previous periods.  It is most useful when considering a term loan request to acquire equipment 
or other Fixed Assets.  
 
Fixed Asset Usage Ratio 
 
 Calculation:  Accumulated Depreciation  
        Gross Fixed Assets 
 
This ratio is useful in determining how much usage the Fixed Assets has experienced.  It is most 
useful to lenders considering a request to finance new equipment.  If the usage is less than 50%, 
further justification should be required for new or replacement Fixed Assets. 
 
Fixed Asset Life Ratio 
 
Calculation: Net Fixed Assets  
  Depreciation Expense 
 
Similar to the ratio above, this ratio indicates how much life is left in the Fixed Assets by taking 
the Net Fixed Assets and dividing it by the current year’s depreciation expense.  This ratio 
should complement the above ratio.  For example, if the Fixed Assets Usage Ratio indicates 
usage of 90%, you would not expect the Fixed Assets Life Ratio to show 8 years of life left. 
 
     2017   2018   2019 
 
Asset Turnover Ratio   1.86   1.81   2.02 
 
Net Fixed Asset Efficiency Ratio 11.4   9.2   10.1 
 
Fixed Asset Usage Ratio  0.67   0.65   0.66 
 
Net Fixed Asset Life Ratio  5.2 years  6.4 years          4.8 years 
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE  
 
These ratios indicate management’s ability to manage a company towards profitability. 
 
Gross Profit Margin 
 
Calculation: Gross Profit 
  Net Sales 
 
This ratio expresses Gross Profit as a percentage of Net Sales.  It measures how many dollars out 
of each dollar of sales remains to cover all operating expenses (those that are not directly related 
to the costs required to produce the good or service).  The higher the margin, the more funds 
available to cover operating expenses. 
 
Operating Profit Margin 
 
Calculation: Operating Profit  
  Net Sales 
 
This ratio expresses Operating Profit as a percentage of Net Sales.  It measures how many dollars 
or cents out of each dollar of sales remains to cover other non-operating expenses including: 
Interest, Extra-Ordinary Expenses, Taxes, etc.  The higher the margin, the more funds available 
to cover these items. 
 
Net Profit Margin 
 
Calculation: Net Profit  
  Net Sales 
 
This ratio expresses Net Profit as a percentage of Net Sales.  It measures how many dollars or 
cents out of each dollar of sales remains as profit.  The higher the margin, the more profitable the 
company. 
 
Return on Stockholders Equity 
 
Calculation: Net Income 
  Stockholder’s Equity 
 
This ratio expresses the profitability of the company’s operations to owner after income taxes.  It 
can be compared to alternative investments available to the owners. 
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Return on Investment (Assets) 
 
Calculation: Net Income 
  Total Assets  
 
This ratio measures the effective utilization of the assets of the company in generating profits or 
creating value. 
 
     2017   2018   2019 
 
Gross Profit Margin   22.8%   25.8%   28.7% 
 
Operating Profit Margin  6.1%   6.0%   9.4% 
 
Net Profit Margin   1.9%   2.6%   5.2% 
 
Return on Equity   8.3%   9.8%   20.5% 
 
Return on Assets   3.4%   4.7%   10.6% 
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Dupont Analysis 
 

An “ROE” Perspective on Ratio Analysis 
 
The ROE (return on equity) ratio can be used as an effective “map” for ratio analysis, although it 
is more usually thought of as a measure of overall performance 
 
The basic ROE equation is:   ROE = Net Profit 
       Net Worth 
 
This ROE equation is the product of three component ratios that summarize the logic in a 
company financial statement: 
 
Total Assets     X  Net Profit X Sales  = Net Profit 
Net Worth       Sales   Total Assets  Net Worth 
 
 
Or in words: 
 
Asset Leverage  Return on Sales Asset Turnover = Return on Equity 
(ALEV)  X  (ROS)  X (ATO)   (ROE)  
 
We can use the equation to direct the analysis of the company’s overall performance (ROE) 
through the components of profitability (ROS), efficiency in asset turnover (ATO) and capital 
structure (ALEV). Using ROE can be a powerful tool to identify which area of the company’s 
performance requires further analysis. 
 
It can also link back to a basic structure of credit analysis: 
 
Business Risk   Performance   Financial Risk 
 
 
Asset Management  Profitability   Liability Management 
 
 
  ATO         ROS         ALEV 
 
 
     
       ROE 
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ASSET CONVERSION CYCLE 

The Asset Conversion Cycle is the process of converting a company’s assets into 
cash.  It: 
 
▪ Provides understanding of borrowing needs 

 
▪ Differentiates between borrowing purpose and borrowing cause 

 
▪ Determines the why, when and how much 

 
 
 
The Asset Conversion Cycle consists of: 
 
▪ The Operation Cycle (Usually last for 1 year or less) 

 
▪ Fixed –Asset Cycle (Covers a number of years)
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Operating Cycle Comparison 
 
 
 
 
      
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
             
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Components of Operating Cycle 
 

▪ Cash 
▪ Purchase of goods of raw materials 
▪ Manufacturing of inventory 
▪ Sale of inventory and creation of account receivable 
▪ Conversion of A/R to cash through collection 

Service 

Cash 

 

Acct. Receivable 

 
Acct. Receivable Raw Material 

Inventory 

Manufacturer 

Cash 

Wholesaler 

Cash 

 

 

Acct. Receivable 

Inventory 

Retail 

Cash 

 

Inventory 
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Net Working Investment Analysis 

 
When the Accounts Receivable, Inventory and Accounts Payable turnover ratios are calculated, 
the results can be used to calculate the Net Working Investment (“NWI”) for the entity.  Before 
the NWI can be defined, a definition of the Operating Cycle must be established.  
 
The Operating Cycle is defined as the time it takes for an entity to utilize its available cash to 
purchase raw material; convert it to finish goods inventory and eventually sell it (for a 
manufacturer): or purchase finished goods inventory and sell it to the end user (for a wholesaler 
and retailer): or fund upfront expenses in order to provide a service (for service companies).  
Therefore, the Operating Cycle can be calculated as follows: 
 
 
   Accounts Receivable Turnover (days)     49  $1,280,430 
+ Inventory Turnover (days)     116  $2,205,935 
 
= Operating Cycle      165  $3,486,365 
 
At this point, this company’s Operating Cycle is 165 days long and equates to $3,486,365 being 
tied up in this Cycle.  This is a long time and a large sum that is not available to this company.  
There are not too many companies that can go this far without some assistance from some source 
of financing.  What is the likely source of this financing? 
 
One source is from suppliers which often provide interest-free financing for inventory, and this is 
the most common form of short-term financing for businesses.  These terms may be up to 60 
days or longer.  For our company, the suppliers are being paid every 27 days.  This means the 
suppliers are essentially providing 27 days of financing or carrying a portion of the amount 
needed over the 138 days of Operating Cycle.  The Operating Cycle can now be adjusted by the 
support provided by the suppliers as follows: 
 
 
   Accounts Receivable Turnover (days)     49  $1,280,430 
+ Inventory Turnover (days)     116  $2,205,935 
 
= Operating Cycle      165  $3,486,365 
-  Accounts Payable (days)     (27)  (   506,961)   

Financing Need After Accounts Payable    138  $2,979,404 

From the above example, there is still a substantial need for financing after considering the 
Accounts Payable.  Is this the amount banks should cover?  The answer is probably no because 
companies may be able to provide some support themselves from the generation of cash flow.  
As a result, this should be considered and included in the Net Working Investment model. 
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The next step is the consideration of excess cash flow that can help support the short fall in the 
financing gap.  Strong profit margins, net of changes in working capital assets and liabilities, 
produce excess cash flow.  While profits repay long-term debt, this source of cash flow is also 
available to cover cash needs resulting from a financing shortfall in a company’s operating cycle. 
 
The company is producing excess cash flow after existing debt service that could be used to 
cover the financing gap.  If the cash flow is presented on an annual basis, it will be necessary to 
convert the amount of available cash flow after debt service based on the length of the Operating 
Cycle. Based upon the calculation of Excess Cash Flow, the company can contribute $265,674 
towards the financing gap. 
 
   Accounts Receivable Turnover (days)     49  $1,280,430 
+ Inventory Turnover (days)     116  $2,205,935 
 
= Operating Cycle      165  $3,486,365 
-  Accounts Payable (days)     (27)  (   506,961)   

Financing Need After Accounts Payable    138  $2,979,404 
Less: Amount Covered by Excess Cash Flow    (    265,674)* 
 
Remaining Financing Needs       $2,713,830 
 
*Excess Cash Flow is calculated as  
 
Cash Generated from Operating Activities    $835,332  
Less: Long Term Debt Current Portion (Prior Year)  – 132,643 
Difference          702,689 
X NWI Days / 365      X 138/365 
 
Excess Cash Flow              265,674 
 
While this source of cash is, in theory, not available until after the receivables are collected, the 
reality is that an Operating Cycle is started and ended almost on a daily basis for most 
companies.  Because of this, there is some daily excess cash flow spun off via profit margins and 
the completion of an operating Cycle. 
 
The final adjustment considers the existing equity in the Trading Assets (A/R + Inv) – (AP + 
AE).  While in theory the cash from existing equity in working capital assets and liabilities is not 
available until the end of the Operating Cycle, for most businesses, new and old Operating 
Cycles are started and completed nearly every day.  Thus, there is some ongoing daily “return of 
equity” embedded in the trading assets.  The amount of Equity in Trading Assets for the 
company is $2,554,929 
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   Accounts Receivable Turnover (days)     49  $1,280,430 
+ Inventory Turnover (days)     116  $2,205,935 
 
= Operating Cycle      165  $3,486,365 
-  Accounts Payable (days)     (27)  (   506,961)   

Financing Need After Accounts Payable    138  $2,979,404 
Less: Amount Covered by Excess Cash Flow    (    265,674) 
 
Remaining Financing Needs       $2,713,830 
 
Less Amount Covered by Equity in Trading Assets    (2,554,929)** 
 
Amount to be Financed by a Working Capital Line of Credit  $  158,901 
 
**  Accounts Receivable   $1,280,430 
    + Inventory     $2,205,935 
    - Accounts Payable    (   506,961)   
    - Accrued Expenses    (  424,475) 
 
Equity in Trading Assets   $2,554,929 
 
If the Operating Cycle turns every 138 days, then the equity in the Operating Cycle is release in 
the form of cash every 138 days on average.  In summary, the cash generated from return of 
equity in trading assets is available to cover the company’s cash operating expenses.  The more 
equity a company has built into its current assets, the lower the amount of financing needs.   
 
 We now see that the required amount of the Line of Credit is in the neighborhood of 

$160,000.   
 

 With this information, we are able to finally compare what our customers’ requests in a Line 
of Credit with what we determine to be the true need. 

 
 Having this knowledge should accomplish the following goals: 

  
 Prevents loan officer from going to loan committed repeatedly to obtain the right amount 
 needed. 
 
 The risks of the Line becoming an “Evergreen Line” is substantially reduce if the 
 customer managers the credit facility properly. 
 

 Don’t Leave Your Customer’s Request for a Line of Credit Up for Chance 
 

 Educate  Your Borrower on the Proper Use of Their Line  
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 Monitor the Activity of Your Borrower’s Line of Credit Quarterly (for strong companies) 
and Monthly (for weaker companies); then, make necessary adjustments according to 
changes in the Operating Cycle 
 

 Require a Monthly Borrower’s Certificate to Track Levels of A/R, Inventory and Cash 
Collections 
 

 Know Your Customer’s Sustainable Growth Rate 
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FINANCIAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 
What is the financial impact on the cash flow of a company if Accounts Receivable, Inventory 
and Accounts Payable turnover measured in days speed up or slow down.  There is a definite 
positive or negative impact that can be measured and will serve as justification for a need for 
additional cash or an explanation for an excess of cash being generated.  The methods to 
determine the financial impact on these asset and liability accounts can be calculated as follows: 
 
 
 
Accounts Receivable Turnover Financial Impact 
 
Sales        9,545,000 =  1,178,395   
Target Turnover Rate            8.1 
 
Minus:  Actual Accounts Receivable Balance   -  1,280,430 
 
=  Positive or Negative Financial Impact        (102,035) 
 
Inventory Turnover Financial Impact 
 
Cost of Sales       6,806,593 = 2,520,960 
Target Turnover Rate           2.7  
 
Minus:  Actual Inventory Balance     - 2,205,936 
 
=  Positive or Negative Financial Impact        315,024 
 
Accounts Payable Turnover Financial Impact 
 
Cost of Sales       6,806,593 = 986,463 
Target Turnover Rate            6.9 
 
Minus:  Actual Accounts Payable Balance    - 506,961 
 
=  Positive or Negative Financial Impact    =(479,502) 
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MARGIN CHANGE ANALYSIS 
 
What is the financial impact on cash flow caused  by changes in the Gross Profit Margin, 
Operating Margin, and Net Profit Margin.  There is a definite positive or negative impact that 
can be measured and will serve as justification for certain management decisions,  need for 
additional cash or an explanation for an excess of cash being generated.  The methods to 
determine the margin change analysis on these metrics can be calculated as follows: 
 
          Current Gross Profit Margin 
Less: Previous Gross Profit Margin 
 
          Change in Margin Expressed in basis points or percentage points 
     100 
 
=       Decimal Equivalent  
      X Current Year’s Sales     
 
      = Positive or Negative Financial Impact on Changed Margin 
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OTHER FINANCIAL RATIOS 
 
 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Net Income Minus Preferred Dividends 
Weighted Shares Outstanding 

 
 
 

 
PRICE EARNINGS RATIO 
 

Market Price of Stock 
Earnings Per Share 

 
 
 

 
PAYOUT RATIO 
 

Cash Dividends 
Net Income Less Preferred Dividends 

 
 

 
 
BOOK VALUE PER SHARE 
 

Common Stockholders’ Equity 
Outstanding Shares 

 
 
 

 
CASH FLOW PER SHARE 
 

Net Income + Noncash Adjustments 
Outstanding Shares 
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COMMERCIAL LENDING CASE 

THE BRADBURN COMPANY 
 
The Bradburn Company wholesales and retails golf clubs under the trade name of “Tour 
Accuracy”.  Sells are to golf equipment wholesalers, country clubs, and municipal public golf 
courses nationally.  Most of their business is generated from the Southeast and Southwest where 
the golfing season is longer and the demand for golf equipment is greater.  Furthermore, these 
regions have a higher percentage of retirees who play golf regularly for fun and exercise and are 
in high demand as vacation spots throughout the year. 
 
The Company has been a customer of your bank for the past 5 years and you have been the 
Relationship Manager since you won the relationship from a competing bank in your local 
market.  Upon approving and closing this loan, you received many accolades regarding your 
persistence and hard work.  You have been the only Relationship Manager since the Company 
became the bank’s customer. 
 
Bruce Bradburn is the founder and owner of the Bradburn Company.  The company has been in 
operations for 20 years under his leadership however, his wife Fran has been a key reason for the 
overall success of the company.   
 
The company has two loan facilities currently available from your bank.  The first is the 
$240,000 line of credit to finance accounts receivable and inventory, which is up for review 
annually before it is renewed.  The second facility is a term loan with annual principal payments 
requirements of $30,000 and $120,000 currently outstanding.  The term loan was extended to 
provide financing for permanent working capital needs (permanent increases in accounts 
receivable and inventory) and other capital expenditures. 
 
You recently met with Bruce and Fran to discuss their banking needs.  Fran tells you that the 
company is profitable however; they never understand why they are always tight for cash.  In 
fact, Fran comments that if it were not for the bank’s Line of Credit, it would have been very 
difficult to keep up with the dramatic increase in sales and to keep your bank’s term loan on a 
current basis. 
 
The Bradburns are requesting an increase in their line of credit at First National Bank (your 
bank) from $240,000 to $325,000.  The reasons driving this request are the need to cover Income 
Taxes that is coming due very soon ($50,000) and to provide some cushion under the Line to 
meet other expected and unexpected working capital needs.   
 
Also, Bruce wants to continue to grow the business by purchasing a new piece of equipment 
which will allow the company to produce a new line of golf club shafts that is expected to be in 
high demand in the near future.  The cost of the equipment is $100,000 and he is looking to 
borrow $80,000 from your bank.  The down payment will come from company and personal 
cash and investments from personal friends.  If Bruce is not able to produce the full amount of 
the down payment, he will use any availability under the Line of Credit. The annual principal 
repayment on this loan will be approximately $18,559. 
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Fran Bradburn tells you a $325,000 Line of Credit will be sufficient to operate their business and 
they should be able to pay out the Line for 30 consecutive days in accordance with loan 
agreement. 
 
The Bradburns provided three years of financial statements for your review and other 
information as follows: 
 

• Selling terms to customers are net 30 days 
• Purchasing terms from suppliers are 2%10 net 30 days (Suppliers do not tolerate late 

payers well) 
• Anticipated Sales growth next year is 15% to 20% 
• Profits will be flat due to increased Advertising expenses to promote the new shafts 

 
 
From the information above and the attached financial statement spreadsheet, please answer the 
following requirements: 
 

1. After reading the case, do you see any peculiarities in the request from Bruce and Fran 
Bradburn regarding the reason(s) for requesting an increase in the Line of Credit and a 
new Term Loan? 

 
 

2. Do you see any peculiarities on the propose use of the Line of Credit? 
 
 

3. Why can’t TBC generate sufficient cash to pay taxes?  There are 4 primary reasons why 
TBC cannot generate $50,000 to pay its tax obligation: 

  __________________________________________ 

 __________________________________________ 
  
 __________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________ 
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Balance Sheet 
Years Ended December 31: 
 
       2014  % 2015  %                2016 % 
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash    $10,575  $  1,010  $     1,767 
Accounts receivable  161,358  247,135     344,977 
Inventory   363,370  707,870     936,491 
Prepaid expenses      4,247    10,224                    8,913 
Employee advances         750      1,442                     3,624 
Cash value life insurance     8,000    15,202                  17,702 
Total current assets  548,300  982,883  1,313,474 
 
Non-current assets 
Gross fixed assets    23,819    80,629     155,704 
Accumulated depreciation      (8,360)  (14,085)     (30,805) 
Net fixed assets    15,459    66,544     124,899 
 
Investments                         0             0            4,584 
 
Total non-current assets   15,459    66,544     129,483 
 
TOTAL ASSETS            $563,759        $1,049,427                     $1,442,957 
 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities 
Notes payable             0   139,702     240,000 
Current portion-LTD    30,000                 30,000         30,000 
Accounts payable  166,562   452,163     757,385 
Accrued Expenses    32,683                 56,822       33,370 
Dividend Payable            0     25,000     0 
Income taxes payable         952               0                    5,019 
Other taxes payable    12,951     19,306       20,482 
Total current liabilities 243,148   722,993            1,086,256 
 
Long term debt    61,223     67,396      90,000 
 
Stockholders’ equity 
Capital stock     20,000    20,000     20,000 
Retained earnings  239,388  239,038              246,701 
Total stockholders’ equity 259,388  259,038   266,701 
 
LIAB. +  EQUITY                $563,759            $1,049,427                    $1,442,957 
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Income Statements 
Years Ended December 31: 
 
          2014        (%)       2015         (%)     2016 (%) 
 
Sales    $2,211,028   100.0 $3,678,613 100.0   $4,737,405 100.0 
Cost of goods sold    1,729,652         2,941,281      3,695,176         
 Gross Profit       481,376            737,332      1,042,229    
 
Direct Costs 
Salaries        307,332       529,720       772,788 
Payroll taxes          26,532                         45,731         66,715 
Employee benefits         11,055         19,054  _     27,793 
Total direct costs       344,919            594,505          867,296        
 
Operating Expenses 
Rent           19,193         24,110         36,207 
Telephone            8,121           7,999           9,632 
Utilities            3,202           3,941           6,212 
Insurance          13,639         17,212         18,663  
Taxes and licenses           8,144           9,534         11,028 
Advertising            9,541           4,117           8,627 
Travel and entertainment          4,007           5,267           4,663 
Auto and truck               3,488            4,214                      4,737 
Depreciation            3,504           5,725         16,720 
Services and supplies           5,662           5,414           7,365 
Interest            8,994           8,321         19,915 
Other operating expenses          8,225           6,100           2,001 
Total operating expenses        95,720       101,954            145,770      
 
 Income before taxes        40,737         40,873              29,163           
             
Provision for taxes           8,435         16,223 _          6,500           
 
 Net Income  $     32,302  $     24,650       $    22,663 
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 BORROWING CAUSE RATIO WORKSHEET 

 

2014    2015               2016     Financial Impact   

Sales Growth %       N/A     66%    29%   

LIQUIDITY 

Current Ratio        2.26     1.36   1.21   

Quick Ratio        0.71     0.34    0.32   

Defensive Interval Ratio (Rate)  4.69  4.31  4.18   

Defensive Interval Ratio (Days) 141    129    125   

Working Capital      305,152 259,890 227,218   

Inventory to Working Capital 1.19  2.49    4.12   

 

Inventory Turnover (Rate)  4.74  4.15  3.97 

Inventory Turnover (days)           77 days   88 days  92 days  __________   

 

Receivable Turnover (Rate)  13.5  15.2  14.0 

Receivable Turnover (days)     27 days   24 days  26 days __________  

 

Acct. Payable Turnover (Rate) 10.4  6.5  4.9  

Payable Turnover (days)       35 days   56 days  75 days __________   

 

LEVERAGE 

Leverage Ratio (Debt / Worth)    1.17     3.05    4.40   

Leverage Ratio (Debt / Assets) 0.54  0.75  0.81 
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2014    2015               2016     Financial Impact   

ASSET MANAGEMENT 

Sales-to-Assets       3.92     3.51    3.28   

Sales to Net Fixed Assets     143.0    55.3    38.0   

Net Fixed Assets Usage Ratio    35.0%    17.0%    20.0%   

Net Fixed Asset Life Ratio     4.4 yrs.   11.6 yrs.  7.5 yrs.  

 

OPERATIONS 

Gross Profit Margin     21.8%   20.0%   22.0%  __________   

Operating Profit Margin        1.8%    1.1%    0.6%   

Net Profit Margin           1.5%     0.7%    0.5%    

Return on Equity        12.4%   9.7%    8.5%   

Return on Assets                   5.4%     2.3%  1.6%    

DuPont Analysis                 __________   

 

NET WORKING INVESTMENT 

Operating Cycle      99 days  112 days 118 days   

NWI         64 days      56 days    43 days   
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1. Based upon the facts discovered, answer the following questions: 
 

a. Is the Line of Credit the right loan structure for the Company’s needs? 
 

b. Can the Company achieve a complete payout of the Line of Credit for 30 days?  
Support your answer with facts. 

 
c. Can you identify any other financing requirements the company faces even 

though the owners did not request for it?  If so, what is the need? 
 

d. How would you judge the loan officers management of this relationship over the 
past two years?  

 
2. What would be your recommendation about the request for an increase in the Line of 

Credit and a new Term Loan? 
 

3. What key financial restriction (if any) you would require from the Bradburns if you 
decide to approve the loan requests? 

 
4. What structure of the existing loans would you recommend if you decide not to approve 

the requests? 
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TWO SCENARIOS  
 
 
SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS    1     2  
 
Line of Credit      240,000    240,000  
 
Term Loan       120,000    120,000  
 
Total Amount Owed to Bank    360,000    360,000  
 
Due to Internal Revenue Service   ________    ________  
 
Accounts Payable 56 Days    ________    ________  
 
35 Days       _________    ________  
 
 
Total Amount of Recapitalization  __________   _________ 
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CASH FLOW ANALYSIS 

“NET PROFITS DON’T REPAY LOANS” 
 

As a banker, you are primarily interested in three things: 
 

• What will the customer do with the loan proceeds? 
 

• How much will your customer need to borrow? 
 

• When will they be able to generate enough cash to repay the loan? 
 
The net profit line on the income statement will not answer either of those questions.  Net profits 
are not cash; they are the result of the accounting techniques and policies used to prepare the 
statements.  Even if all the items on the income statement represented cash, you would not 
expect to see the company’s net profit sitting in the cash account.  A growing company should 
invest some of those profits in additional inventory, fixed assets or accounts receivable. 
 
If net profits do not repay loans, then what does?  Cash, Cash and only Cash can repay a loan.  
The cash may come from a variety of sources.  Profits are one source.  Other sources include the 
sales of assets, infusion of capital, loan proceeds and extensions of additional credit from 
suppliers.  The lender’s challenge is to identify cash inflows and outflows, analyze what has 
caused them and which ones are most significant for each borrower, and evaluate how future 
cash flows might differ from past ones. 
 

• Cash can come from: 
 

– Profits 
– Sales of assets 
– Infusion of capital 
– Loan proceeds 
– Extensions of additional credit from suppliers 

 
– Our challenge is to identify cash inflows/outflows, analyze what has caused them 

and which ones are most significant, and how future cash flow may differ from 
the past. 
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ACCOUNTING METHOD: CASH BASIS VS. ACCRUAL BASIS 
 
 Financial Statements and Tax Returns can be prepared on Cash or an Accrual Basis. The 
difference in the two accounting methods is vast. Both methods have their advantages and 
disadvantages. Unfortunately, bankers often do not have a say in type of accounting method the 
client will present unless the financial institution is managing a problem loan. In that case, the 
financial institution may have rights to demand a certain type of financial statement in an effort 
to increase the probability of a successful collection of past due debts.  
  
Accrual Basis 
 
 Financial statements prepared on an Accrual Basis will recognize all economic events regardless 
of the collection of cash at the point of sale or the payment of costs and expenses at the time the 
costs and expenses are incurred. Simply stated, the Accrual Method records all economic 
transactions that a normal entity will incur on a day-to-day basis. The advantage of the Accrual 
Method is that the user will see all the accounting transactions in a given period thus providing 
the opportunity to perform a thorough analysis on the entity. The disadvantage is that the Accrual 
Method does not indicate the amount of cash generate or used by the entity.  
 
Below are two examples of when an accrual is necessary 

1. A purchase order is placed on June 1 for lab equipment, and the equipment is 
received on June 28. An invoice for $3,000 is received on July 1 and is paid on 
July 30. An accrued expense of $3,000 must be recorded as of June 30 to 
ensure that the expense is properly accounted for in the current fiscal year. The 
way to accrue this expense is to record the receiving of the goods in the 
Financial Statement. 

 

2. An electric bill for 701 Carnegie is received on July 15 in the amount of 
$6,000. The dates of electric service are from June 10 – July 10. An accrual 
would be necessary as of June 30 for $4,000, as 2/3 of the time of service 
occurred in June, and 1/3 occurred in July. 

Cash Basis 
 
Financial statements prepared on the Cash Basis will recognize economic events only when cash 
is collected from sales and paid out for costs and expenses. It is meant to present a more 
conservative look at the performance on an entity by ignoring transactions that do not generate 
cash or use cash. Companies that use this method do not want to “Count Their Chickens Before 
They Hatch,” so to speak.  
 
Since the Cash Basis only reflects cash transactions, there is no need to perform a Cash Flow 
Analysis because the financial statements are on a Cash Basis already. The disadvantage is that 
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the user of the financial statements will not see all of the economic events an entity incurred and 
as such, a thorough analysis of the entity cannot be performed.  
 
Cash Basis of accounting is often used by law, accounting, engineering, architectural firms, and 
many other similar service-related businesses because collections of amounts due from clients 
may take longer than other entities that provide a vital product that is critical to the production of 
goods and services. 
 
Companies utilizing the Cash Basis will not show accrual accounts on their balance sheets such 
as Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses and as such, the loan officer 
should request for an ageing of those accounts so that a thorough analysis can be performed. 
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CASH BASIS OF ACCOUNTING VERSUS 
ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING   

         

        
Statement 

of 
  Cash Basis Accrual Basis  Balance Sheet   Cash Flow 
         

         
Sales  600,000 1,000,000  Accounts Rec. (400,000) 600,000 
Cost of Sales (400,000) (700,000)  Accounts Payable 300,000 400,000 

         
Gross 
Profit  200,000 300,000     200,000 

         
Operating 
Expenses (100,000) (200,000)  Accrued Expenses 100,000 100,000 

         
Operating 
Income 100,000 100,000     100,000 

         

Taxes  (20,000) (34,000)  
Income Tax 
Payable 14,000 (20,000) 

         
Net 
Income  80,000 66,000    14,000 80,000 
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WHEN IS IT APPROPRIATE TO PERFORM A CASH FLOW ANALYSIS?  
  
The two Principles of Lending addresses when Cash Flow Analysis is required to be     
  

• Principle Number 1:  Short Term Loans including, Lines of Credits and Single Payments 
Notes (with maturity dates of one year or less) are repaid from the Asset Conversion 
Cycle.  The ACC is the time it takes for an entity to invest its cash initially to produce its 
products and services and for the cash to be returned to the company after selling or 
providing the services.    

  
• Principle Number 2:  Loan Term Loans (with maturity dates of more than one year) are 

repaid from the ability of the entity to generate Cash Flow  
  
  
So the obvious answer is Cash Flow Analysis is required whenever we entertain a loan request  
that will be repaid in more than one year however, it is recommended that Cash Flow Analysis 
should always be completed for all loan requests, even for a Line of Credit request.  Why is it 
necessary for a Line of Credit request you ask?  Often times, bank customers will misuse their 
Working Capital Lines of Credit and use it for the acquisition of long term assets or the entity 
fails to reduce the line upon collection of Accounts Receivable thus creating a permanent layer 
of outstanding under the Line of Credit that cannot be repaid from the normal Asset Conversion 
Cycle.  Therefore, Cash Flow Analysis is required.  
  
CASH FLOW METHODOLOGIES  
  
Cash Flow can be determine by utilizing one of three methods utilized in the financial services 
industry.  The methods include the Indirect Direct and UCA.  
  
Indirect Method  
  
The Indirect Method is recognized by Generally Accepted Accounting Principle and is often 
used by preparers of financial statements.  The Indirect Method starts by converting Net Income 
or Loss into cash flow or a cash loss.  Flowing is an example of how the Indirect Method is 
applied into a Statement of Cash Flows  
  
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
  
Shows the cash inflows and cash outflows from operating activities, investing activities   and 
financing activities.  
  
  

• OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Generally includes the cash effects of transactions and other events that enter into the 
determination of net income.  It is the cash generated or used in producing profits or 
losses 
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• INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Generally include the cash effects of transactions involving the acquisition or disposal of 
fixed assets  

  
  

• FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Generally include the cash effects of transactions and other events involving creditors and 
owners  

  
  
An example of the Indirect Method is shown on the attached Highway Safety Manufacturing, Inc 
Statement of Cash Flows  
  
UCA Method  
  
The Uniform Cash Analysis Method was created by bankers for bankers.  Although it is not 
officially recognized by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, it works for bankers because 
it rearranges items on the Cash Flow Statements in an order that makes more sense when 
analyzing the ability of a company to service debt.  Even though the UCA Method is not GAAP 
compliant, it is safe to use because the end result of a properly calculated UCA is a balancing to 
the change in the Cash position from the beginning of the period to the ending of a period.  This 
is the same for the Indirect Method which is in compliance with GAAP.   
  
What is Required When Calculating Cash Flow for a Commercial Client?  
  
The calculation of Cash Flow requires the input from the Income Statement and the Balance 
Sheet.  Both statements can display the generation and use of cash.  The Income Statement is, 
within itself, a Statement of Potential Cash Flow as shown below:  
  
• INCOME STATEMENT  
  
– Sources  

• Sales/Revenue  
• Other Income  
• Gain of Sale of Assets – 
 

- Uses 
• Cost of Goods Sold 
• Operating Expenses 
• Interest Expense  
• Income taxes  
• Loss on Sale of Assets and Other Expenses 
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One major problem committed in calculation Cash Flow properly is that we stop after 
considering the Income Statement.  Why you may ask, because the Traditional and EBITDA 
Models stops at the Income Statement.  Consider the following two calculations:  

  
Traditional Model               EBITDA  

  
Net Income                 EBITDA 
+ Depreciation and Other Non-Cash Charges    Annual Debt Service 
+ Interest           
Available Cash Flow   
/ Annual Debt Service (P & I)  

  
= Debt Coverage Ratio < 1.25 X                  =Debt Coverage Ratio  

  
These models have four major fallacies:  

  
• They completely ignore the input of the balance sheet as all of potential sources of cash is 

derived from the Income Statement Only  
  

• This Model assumes that the Available Cash Flow or EBITDA can and will be collected  
  

• This Model considers Cash Flow generated or used within a period of time while true 
Cash Flow analysis must have a beginning period and an ending period  
  

• “We bankers think we are all that”, meaning that we believe we are first in line to be 
repaid from potential Cash Flow while ignoring other demands on that cash such as 
increasing Inventory (which would be considered if the Balance Sheet is included in the 
analysis)  
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        Traditional  

 Net Profit       500   
 Plus: Non-Cash Charges     196  
 Plus: Interest         97  
 + Change in Accounts Receivable            0     
 + Change in Inventory             0                     
 + Change in Accounts Payable                  0   
 + Change in Accrued Expenses              0          
 = Cash After Operating Cycle    793   
 Minus: Dividends Declared             0   
 + Change in Dividend Payable        0               
 + Change in Net Worth            0    
 = Cash After Financing Cost    793     
 Less: Current Portion of LTD             (231)   
 = Cash Available for Other Debt   562       
 + Change in Gross Fixed Assets                 (219)     

  = Financing Surplus (Requirement)                      343    

 
In order to calculate Cash Flow properly, the Balance Sheet must be included because:  

  
  
• Sources and Uses of Cash can be determined from the Balance Sheet also.  
  
• The Balance Sheet records the place where cash was either generated or spent  
  

In order to determine the impact of the Balance Sheet in determining Cash Flow, one must know 
the Rules of Cash Flow as follows: 
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RULES OF CASH FLOW BALANCE SHEET  
 
INCREASE   DECREASE   SOURCE   USE 
  
   Asset            X  
                                          Asset        X  
  
   Liability           X 
                                         Liability        X   
 
            
  Net Worth           X        
 
                                         Net Worth       X 
 
 
 
        Tradition  UCA 

 Net Profit       500  500 
 Plus: Non-Cash Charges     196  196 
 Plus: Interest         97    97 
 + Change in Accounts Receivable           0                 (282) 
 + Change in Inventory            0                (187) 
 + Change in Accounts Payable                     0  132 
 + Change in Accrued Expenses               0       49 
 = Cash After Operating Cycle    793  505 
 Minus: Dividends Declared            0              (243) 
 + Change in Net Worth             0       0 
 = Cash After Financing Cost    793              262       
 Less: Current Portion of LTD             (231)            (231) 
 = Cash Available for Other Debt      562               31 
 + Change in Gross Fixed Assets              (219)                (219) 
 = Financing Surplus (Requirement)     343              (188) 
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Balance Sheet 
Years Ended December 31: 
 
       2014  % 2015  %                2016 % 
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash    $10,575  $  1,010  $     1,767 
Accounts receivable  161,358  247,135     344,977 
Inventory   363,370  707,870     936,491 
Prepaid expenses      4,247    10,224                    8,913 
Employee advances         750      1,442                     3,624 
Cash value life insurance     8,000    15,202                  17,702 
Total current assets  548,300  982,883  1,313,474 
 
Non-current assets 
Gross fixed assets    23,819    80,629     155,704 
Accumulated depreciation      (8,360)  (14,085)     (30,805) 
Net fixed assets    15,459    66,544     124,899 
 
Investments                         0             0            4,584 
 
Total non-current assets   15,459    66,544     129,483 
 
TOTAL ASSETS            $563,759        $1,049,427                     $1,442,957 
 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities 
Notes payable             0   139,702     240,000 
Current portion-LTD    30,000                 30,000         30,000 
Accounts payable  166,562   452,163     757,385 
Accrued Expenses    32,683                 56,822       33,370 
Dividend Payable            0     25,000     0 
Income taxes payable         952               0                    5,019 
Other taxes payable    12,951     19,306       20,482 
Total current liabilities 243,148   722,993            1,086,256 
 
Long term debt    61,223     67,396      90,000 
 
Stockholders’ equity 
Capital stock     20,000    20,000     20,000 
Retained earnings  239,388  239,038              246,701 
Total stockholders’ equity 259,388  259,038   266,701 
 
LIAB. +  EQUITY                $563,759            $1,049,427                    $1,442,957 
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Income Statements 
Years Ended December 31: 
 
          2014        (%)       2015         (%)     2016 (%) 
 
Sales    $2,211,028   100.0 $3,678,613 100.0   $4,737,405 100.0 
Cost of goods sold    1,729,652         2,941,281      3,695,176         
 Gross Profit       481,376            737,332      1,042,229    
 
Direct Costs 
Salaries        307,332       529,720       772,788 
Payroll taxes          26,532                         45,731         66,715 
Employee benefits         11,055         19,054  _     27,793 
Total direct costs       344,919            594,505          867,296        
 
Operating Expenses 
Rent           19,193         24,110         36,207 
Telephone            8,121           7,999           9,632 
Utilities            3,202           3,941           6,212 
Insurance          13,639         17,212         18,663  
Taxes and licenses           8,144           9,534         11,028 
Advertising            9,541           4,117           8,627 
Travel and entertainment          4,007           5,267           4,663 
Auto and truck               3,488            4,214                      4,737 
Depreciation            3,504           5,725         16,720 
Services and supplies           5,662           5,414           7,365 
Interest            8,994           8,321         19,915 
Other operating expenses          8,225           6,100           2,001 
Total operating expenses        95,720       101,954            145,770      
 
 Income before taxes        40,737         40,873              29,163           
             
Provision for taxes           8,435         16,223 _          6,500           
 
 Net Income  $     32,302  $     24,650       $    22,663 
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1 Sales Revneue (net)
2 *Accounts Receivable
3      Cash collected from sales (1 + 2)

4 Cost of goods sold (less noncash COGS)
5 *Inventory
6 *Accounts payable
7 Cash paid for production (Sum 4,5,6)
8     Cash from trading activities ( 3 + 7)

9 SG&A expense (less noncash SG&A)
10 *Prepaid expenses
11 *Accrued expenses
12 Cash paid for operating costs (Sum 9,10,11)
13     Cash after operations (8 + 12)

14 Other Income (expense)
15 *Other current and noncurrent accounts
16 Income tax expense
17 *Deferred income taxes
18 *Income taxes payable
19 Taxes/other income (expense)(Sum 14-18)
20     Net cash after operations (13 + 19)

21 Interest expense
22 *Interest payable
23 Dividends declared or owner's withdrawals
24 *Dividends payable
25 Paid for dividends and interest (Sum 21-24)
26    Cash after financing costs (20 + 25)

27 Current portion long-term debt (prior year)
28    Cash after debt amortization (26 + 27)

29 *Fixed assets 
30 *Investments
31 *Intangibles
32 Paid for plant and investments (Sum 29-31)
33 Financing surplus (requirement) (28+32)

34 *Short-term debt (notes payable)
35 *Long-term debt
36 *Preferred stock
37 *Common stock
38 *Paid In Capital
39  Total external financing (Sum 34-38)
40 Financing surplus (requirement)(33+39)

41 Proof: *Cash and marketable securities  
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1 Sales Revneue (net)
2 *Accounts Receivable
3      Cash collected from sales (1 + 2)

4 Cost of goods sold (less noncash COGS)
5 *Inventory
6 *Accounts payable
7 Cash paid for production (Sum 4,5,6)
8     Cash from trading activities ( 3 + 7)

9 SG&A expense (less noncash SG&A)
10 *Prepaid expenses
11 *Accrued expenses
12 Cash paid for operating costs (Sum 9,10,11)
13     Cash after operations (8 + 12)

14 Other Income (expense)
15 *Other current and noncurrent accounts
16 Income tax expense
17 *Deferred income taxes
18 *Income taxes payable
19 Taxes/other income (expense)(Sum 14-18)
20     Net cash after operations (13 + 19)

21 Interest expense
22 *Interest payable
23 Dividends declared or owner's withdrawals
24 *Dividends payable
25 Paid for dividends and interest (Sum 21-24)
26    Cash after financing costs (20 + 25)

27 Current portion long-term debt (prior year)
28    Cash after debt amortization (26 + 27)

29 *Fixed assets 
30 *Investments
31 *Intangibles
32 Paid for plant and investments (Sum 29-31)
33 Financing surplus (requirement) (28+32)

34 *Short-term debt (notes payable)
35 *Long-term debt
36 *Preferred stock
37 *Common stock
38 *Paid In Capital
39  Total external financing (Sum 34-38)
40 Financing surplus (requirement)(33+39)

41 Proof: *Cash and marketable securities
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FAST CASH ANALYSIS (000)

1 Net Profit
2 Plus: Interest 
3 Plus: Non Cash Charges (Depreciation)
4 + Change in Accounts Receivable
5 + Change in Inventory

6 + Change in Accounts Payable
7 + Change in Accrued Expenses

8     Cash After Operating Cycle

+ Change in Net Worth* (Dividends/Withdrawals)

+ Change in Dividend Payable
10      Cash After Financing Cost

11 Less: Current Portion of Long Term Debt

12      Cash Available for Other Debt

13 + Change in Gross Fixed Assets

14      Financing Surplus (Requirement)

*Reconcile Net Worth to obtain results 
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FINANCIAL FORECASTING 
Financial forecasting is an analytical tool used by banks to accomplish several objectives.  In 
general, we use forecasting to take a look at future financial performance of our prospects and 
customers.  The quality of any financial forecast is limited by the assumptions upon which they 
are based.  Given that they are an attempt to look at the future, they are subject to many factors 
that may occur which are unforeseen when the forecast is produced.   So why use forecasting?  
We use forecasting for the following broad purposes: 
 

• To Develop A Range of Expected Performance 
 

• To Validate Key Risks Identified 
 
• To Establish Financial Covenants For Loan Agreements 

 
• To Test Workout Strategies 

 
The problem is that bankers I have interviewed across the country admit they rarely, if ever, 
perform financial forecasts on their prospects or customers.  I find this strange because bankers 
admit to their managers producing Annual Budgets for their departments in order to peek into 
next year’s performance however, they fail to see the need to perform a similar analysis on their 
borrowers.   
 
Since all loans are repaid from cash to be generated in the future, it stands to reason that 
Financial Forecasting should be required.  After all, if borrowers performed so well in the past, 
then why is there a need for them to borrower funds for any reason.  Bankers must examine past 
performance to obtain an indication what may happen in the future however, we should not 
overlook an analysis that will indicate the likely outcome of generating cash over the next 12 
months, because it is this cash that will service our debts. 
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It is quite evident from the historical Cash Flow Analysis that TBC is greatly deficient in 
generating cash to meet its needs.  If we are proposing to recapitalize TBC when historical Cash 
Flow is negative, where will cash be generated to pay the proposed debts.  This is justification to 
perform a Financial Forecast. 
 
The process of Financial Forecasting starts by interviewing the borrower and allow them to 
inform you of the changes in their operations over the next year.  In most cases, business owners 
are more optimistic in forecasting the future performance.  We should note their assumptions and 
transpose them into a forecast income statement, balance sheet (major accounts required only) 
and UCA Analysis. 
 
An interview with Bruce revealed the following assumptions: 
 
1) Bruce thinks that the company can reduce inventory DOH to 60 days by the end of 2017. 
 
2) Bruce wants to reduce the Accounts Payable to 50 days on hand by the end of 2017. 
 
3) Bruce thinks sales growth will slow to around 15 percent next year.   

 
4) Gross Profit Margin should increase to 23.0% in 2017 from 22.0% in 2016  
 
5) Salary expense (which is a direct cost on the income statement) should decline in 2017 to             

90% of 2016 levels. 
 
6) Operating expenses, net of interest, depreciation and salary expenses, should rise at the   

same rate as sales, about 15 percent annually.  
 
7) Fixed Asset will remain at a constant $125,000 and only increase at the same rate as the                    

Depreciation Expense which is $17,000 per year. 
 

8) Accounts Receivable will turn approximately 27 days on average in 2017 
 

9) Accrued Expenses will continue to average 3.4% of total Operating Expenses 
 

10) Projected Income Tax Expanse sill be 50% of projected pre-tax profits 
 

11) TBC plans to pay 75% of the projected Income Tax Expense and carry the remaining                   
25% as an Income Tax Payable 

 
With these assumptions, we will be able to forecast the Income Statement, Balance Sheet and 
UCA Cash Flow Analysis. 
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Balance Sheet 
Years Ended December 31: 
 
       2014  % 2015  %                2016 % 
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash    $10,575  $  1,010  $     1,767 
Accounts receivable  161,358  247,135     344,977 
Inventory   363,370  707,870     936,491 
Prepaid expenses      4,247    10,224                    8,913 
Employee advances         750      1,442                     3,624 
Cash value life insurance     8,000    15,202                  17,702 
Total current assets  548,300  982,883  1,313,474 
 
Non-current assets 
Gross fixed assets    23,819    80,629     155,704 
Accumulated depreciation      (8,360)  (14,085)     (30,805) 
Net fixed assets    15,459    66,544     124,899 
 
Investments                         0             0            4,584 
 
Total non-current assets   15,459    66,544     129,483 
 
TOTAL ASSETS            $563,759        $1,049,427                     $1,442,957 
 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities 
Notes payable             0   139,702     240,000 
Current portion-LTD    30,000                 30,000         30,000 
Accounts payable  166,562   452,163     757,385 
Accrued Expenses    32,683                 56,822       33,370 
Dividend Payable            0     25,000     0 
Income taxes payable         952               0                    5,019 
Other taxes payable    12,951     19,306       20,482 
Total current liabilities 243,148   722,993            1,086,256 
 
Long term debt    61,223     67,396      90,000 
 
Stockholders’ equity 
Capital stock     20,000    20,000     20,000 
Retained earnings  239,388  239,038              246,701 
Total stockholders’ equity 259,388  259,038   266,701 
 
LIAB. +  EQUITY                $563,759            $1,049,427                    $1,442,957 
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Income Statements 
Years Ended December 31: 
 
          2014        (%)       2015         (%)     2016 (%) 
 
Sales    $2,211,028   100.0 $3,678,613 100.0   $4,737,405 100.0 
Cost of goods sold    1,729,652         2,941,281      3,695,176         
 Gross Profit       481,376            737,332      1,042,229    
 
Direct Costs 
Salaries        307,332       529,720       772,788 
Payroll taxes          26,532                         45,731         66,715 
Employee benefits         11,055         19,054  _     27,793 
Total direct costs       344,919            594,505          867,296        
 
Operating Expenses 
Rent           19,193         24,110         36,207 
Telephone            8,121           7,999           9,632 
Utilities            3,202           3,941           6,212 
Insurance          13,639         17,212         18,663  
Taxes and licenses           8,144           9,534         11,028 
Advertising            9,541           4,117           8,627 
Travel and entertainment          4,007           5,267           4,663 
Auto and truck               3,488            4,214                      4,737 
Depreciation            3,504           5,725         16,720 
Services and supplies           5,662           5,414           7,365 
Interest            8,994           8,321         19,915 
Other operating expenses          8,225           6,100           2,001 
Total operating expenses        95,720       101,954            145,770      
 
 Income before taxes        40,737         40,873              29,163           
             
Provision for taxes           8,435         16,223 _          6,500           
 
 Net Income  $     32,302  $     24,650       $    22,663 
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INCOME STATEMENT
2016 Projected Adjusted

Sales 4,737
Cost of Goods Sold 3,695

Gross Profit 1,042
S G & A Expenses 109
Salary Expense 867
Depreciation 17
Other
Total Operating Expenses 993

Operating Profit 49
Interest Expense-Existing Debt 20
Interest Expense-Proposed Debt
Interest Income
Other Income (Expense)

Profit Before Taxes 29
Income Tax 6

Net Profits 23
Dividends

BALANCE SHEET

Cash
Accounts Receivable 345
Inventory 936
Prepaid Expenses
Other Current Assets

Total Current Assets

Fixed Assets (Net) 125
Other Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Notes Payable
Current Portion-Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable 757
Accrued Expenses 33
Income Taxable Payable 5
Other Current Liabilities

Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Debt

Total Liabilities

Net Worth

PROJECTED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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UNIVERSAL CASH ANALYSIS ACTUAL FORECAST ADJUSTED

2016 2017 2017
Sales Revneue (net) 4,737
*Accounts Receivable (98)
     Cash collected from sales 4,639

Cost of goods fold (less noncash COGS) (3,695)

*Inventory (229)

*Accounts payable 305

Cash paid for production (3,619)
    Cash from trading activities 1,020

SG&A expense (less noncash SG&A) (976)
*Prepaid expenses 1
*Accrued expenses (23)
Cash paid for operating costs (999)
    Cash after operations 22

Other Income (expense) 0
*Other current and noncurrent accounts (5)
Income tax expense (7)
*Deferred income taxes 0
*Income taxes payable 6
Taxes paid and other income (expense) (7)
    Net cash after operations 15

Interest expense (20)
*Interest payable 0
Dividends declared or owner's withdrawals (15)
*Dividends payable (25)
Cash paid for dividends and interest (60)
   Cash after financing costs (45)
Current portion long-term debt (prior year) (30)
   Cash after debt amortization (75)

*Fixed assets (75)
*Investments (5)
*Intangibles 0
Cash paid for plant and investments (80)
   Financing surplus (requirement) (112)

*Short-term debt (notes payable) 60
*Long-term debt 53
*Preferred stock 0
*Common stock 0
 Total external financing 113
   Financing surplus (requirement) 1

Proof: *Cash and marketable securities 1  
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SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 
 
It is possible to think of companies as passing through a predictable life cycle.  The cycle begins 
with a start-up phase in which the company loses money while developing products and 
establishing a foothold in the market.  This is usually followed by a rapid growth phase in which 
the company is profitable but is growing so rapidly it needs regular infusions of outside 
financing.  The third phase is maturity, characterized by a decline in growth and a switch from 
absorbing outside financing to generating more cash than it can profitably reinvest. 
 
Although each phase of a company’s life cycle presents its own financial challenges, our 
discussion will focus on the growth phase when financing needs are most pressing.  Central to 
our discussion is the notion of sustainable growth.  Intuitively, sustainable growth is just a 
formalization of the old adage, “It takes money to make money.”  Increased sales require more 
assets of all types, which must be funded.  Retained profits and accompanying new borrowings 
generate some cash, but only in limited amounts.  Unless the company can sell stock, this limit 
puts a ceiling on the growth a company can achieve without straining its resources.  This is the 
firm’s SUSTAINABLE GROWTH RATE. 
 
Proper financing of rapidly growing companies can be extremely difficult.  Growing sales 
require an additional investment in both current and fixed assets.  These in turn are often 
financed by increased bank debt, which may cause deterioration in the solvency and safety of the 
firm.  Because of the relationship between sales growth and balance sheet strength, there are 
three important questions to answer: 
 

1. How fast can sales grow without blasting leverage out of the water (i.e. and maintain a 
strong balance sheet)? 

 
 
 

2. How fast can sales grow at a higher level of leverage? 
 
 
 

3. How fast can sales grow assuming no new debt is absorbed to fund growth? 
 
 
 
The following formulas attempt to answer each of these questions. 
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SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 
 

Key: NPM – Net Profit Margin (0.5%)   D/W ---Debt to Worth (   4.40     ) 
 VA ----Variable Assets ($1,437,172)  S--------Sales ($4,737,405) 
 VL-----Variable Liabilities ($   790,755) 
 
 
 
How much can sales grow without blasting leverage out of the water? 
 
 
 

 
1. Sales Growth to Maintain Level Debt to Worth 

 
 
 

Sales Growth %  =        (NPM) x (1 + D/W) 
       VA  -  (NPM) x (1+ D/W) 
          S 
 
 
 

 
 
 

2. Sales Growth Rate for New Level of Debt to Worth 
 
 

 
Sales Growth %  =  NW x (New D/W – Old D/W)  +  (NPM) x (1+  Old D/W) 
        S _______________________________________ 
      VA  -  (NPM) x (1 + New D/W) 
 
 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

3. Sales Growth for No New Debt  
 
 

Sales Growth % =    NPM____________ 
     VA – VL  -  NPM 
       S S 
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Commercial Lending 
Series

Review of Corporate Income 
Tax Returns

Introduction

 Background
 Excited to be here today
 My speaking style
 What I hope each participant learns

through this presentation
 Inputs for improving future presentations

1

2
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Review of Corporate Income Tax 
Returns

 Understanding the word “Corporate” as it
applies to Commercial Lending.  Corporate
for this discussion applies to any non-
individual income tax return and includes:
 Regular Corporation (Form 1120)
 Subchapter S Corporation (Form 1120S)
 Limited Liability Company (Form 1065)
 Partnership (Form 1065)
 Nonprofit (Form 990)

 Note – a Single Member LLC is a
disregarded entity for tax purposes.

Differences
 Pass-through Entities

 Subchapter S Corporation
 Partnership
 Limited Liability Company (note can elect S

Status)
 Trust

 Non Pass-through Entities
 Regular Corporation
 Nonprofit
 Trust

3

4
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Unique Differences
 Subchapter S

 Shareholders/Officers working in the business will
earn wages

 Shareholders may also take distributions

 Taxes are typically paid at the shareholder level

 Certain income and expense may not flow though
page 1 of the tax return due to their character

Unique Differences
 LLCs and Partnerships

 Partners typically do not receive wages but receive
“Guaranteed Pay to Partners” which is reflected on
page 1 as operating expenses

 Partners may also take distributions

 Taxes are typically paid at the partner level

 Certain income and expense may not flow though
page 1 of the tax return due to their character

5

6
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Unique Differences
 Regular Corporations

 Shareholders/Officers receive wages

 Entity could pay dividends which are not tax
deductible

 Taxes are paid at the corporate level.

 Trust
 Beneficiaries receive distributions
 Taxes may be paid by the trust, the beneficiaries or

both

Basis of Accounting
 Accrual
 Cash
 Income Tax Basis
 Other

 Accounting for construction contracts
 Percentage of Completion
 Completed Contract

 Accounting for Inventory
 LIFO

FIFO
 Average Cost

7

8
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Lending to Commercial Clients
 Lending to Commercial Clients usually involves a loan

to the entity for various reasons as well as the
guarantee of the owner.

 In order to understand risk you need to have a good
grasp of the global entity.

 Starting point – personal financial statement and
individual income tax return of owner.

 “Know your Client”

 Global Cash Flow understanding is very important.

Understanding Your Client
 Repeat – Good starting point is the

personal financial statement and individual
income tax return of the owner.

 Knowledge gained from a quick review is
invaluable to asking the right questions
and understanding potential risk of your
commercial client.

9

10
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Understanding Your Client
 Review enables you to:

 Understand related entities to the Company you
are proposing lending money.

 Understand the potential needs (both time and
cash flows) of the owner which could affect your
client.

 Understand potential guarantees or collateral
issues which could affect your client.

 Ask the right questions.

Review of Depreciation- Section 
179 

 Section 179 Deduction allows a business to deduct, for the current tax
year. The full purchase price of financed or leased equipment and
certain off-the-shelf that qualify for the deduction.

 Companies generally utilize this deduction first, as opposed to Bonus
Depreciation because of the limitations. (Explained on next slide).

 In 2017, the deduction limit is $510,000.

 In 2018, the deduction is limited to $1,000,000

 There’s also a limit on Capital Purchases if your purchases are over
$2,030,000 in 2017 ($2,500,000 in 2018)

 .
This is the maximum amount that can be spent on 
equipment before the Section 179 Deduction that is 
available to your company begins to be reduced.

11

12
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Review of Depreciation- Bonus
 If a company elects to take Bonus Depreciation,

they are allowed to take 50% (2017) of the
assets cost as depreciation in its first year.

 For 2018, the Bonus Depreciation rate is 100% -
includes used property.  This is taken after the
Section 179 limit in capital equipment purchases
is reached

 Past Limitations:
In the past, you can only elect this option on    
new  equipment (no used equipment, no 
software)

DEPRECIATION EXAMPLE

13

14
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Case Study
 Business purchased $700,000 in equipment

 Equipment will be depreciated over 5 years

 What is the total first year deduction?

 Say the equipment cost $2,350,000, what is
the first year deduction?

 What about $2,500,000?

Understanding Your Client Helps You 
Manage RISK

15

16
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Case Study – S Corporation
 Potential Borrower – Widgets R US

“S Corporation”
 Request: $300,000 at 6% with 5 year

amortization
 Documents obtained:

 2011 1120S

Review of S-Corp. Return

17

18

User
Cross-Out
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Initial Review of S Corporation (1120S)

 Precursory Review – Attaining initial knowledge

 Page 1 of 1120S
 Box B – Business Activity Code

 Box E – Date of Incorporation – Shows longevity of the 

business
 Box I – Number of Shareholders

 Page 2 of 1120S
 Schedule B – Line 1 – Method of Accounting

 Schedule B – Line 2(a) – Business Activity

 Schedule K – Line 2, 3a, 3b and 3c – Rental activities

 Schedule K – Other items which would be useful in 

determination of financial statement analysis.

Initial Review of S Corporation (1120S)

 Page 3 of 1120S
 Line 12 – Charitable Contributions
 Line 16c – Nondeductible corporate expenses
 Line 16d –Property/Cash Distributions
 Line 16e – Repayment of loans from

shareholders
 Other items which are useful in your financial

statement analysis

19

20
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Initial Review of S Corporation (1120S)

 Page 4 of 1120S
 Schedule L

 Change in Assets and Liabilities
 Line 7 – Loans to Shareholders
 Line 6 – Other current assets
 Line 10a – Buildings and Depreciable Assets
 Line 14 – Other Assets
 Line 17 or 20 – Mortgage, Notes, and Bonds Payable
 Line 18 – Other Current Liabilities
 Line 19 – Loans from shareholders
 Lines 22 – 26 – Equity

 Schedule M-1, M-2 and M-3 – Other Changes in Equity
that may or may not be on return

What is the Initial Knowledge Gained from 
Review of the S Corporation Tax Return?

 Retained Earnings is barely positive at year end and
company does not appear liquid.

 S Corp has new long term debt of $1.13 Million.
 There is a significant amount of receivables on the

books with no allowance for bad debt.  Compare A/R
to sales.

 S Corp had an extraordinary gain of $500,000 which
they distributed.

 Interest expense seems low for the amount of loans S
Corp has, may mean potentially incorrect recording of
interest.

 If significant funding came from the shareholders in
the form of a loan, what are the possible ramifications
from that?
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From the Knowledge Gained …..
 What additional questions or documents

would you potential ask for?
 Existence of employment, customer or other contracts

which may affect cash flows?
 Fixed Asset/Depreciation Schedule
 Notes Payable
 Existence of Unfunded Loans
 Accounts Receivable aging schedule – year-end and current

– Is it collectible?
 Accounts Payable aging schedule – year-end and current
 Shareholders reduced loan from shareholder by

approximately $500K and took a distribution of $500K.
The Company is cash flowing from debt issuance.

 Are there any related party transactions?

S Corporation
 Obtained the accounts receivable aging,

noting the receivable is from one large
vendor and the amount has since been
received

 Obtained the accounts payable aging,
noting some old payables which are being
disputed

 Obtained terms of the long term note,
which was paid off upon receipt of the
receivables
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Complete Business Loan 
Cash Flow Worksheet

Complete the Cash Flow Analysis
 Start with analysis of net income.
 Reconcile taxable income to book income.
 Add back any nonrecurring losses and subtract

any nonrecurring income
 Add back depreciation, depletion and

amortization as these are non cash deductions
 Consider:

 Adjusting for distributions (not done for this example, should
determine what frequency distributions are paid, i.e. annually)

 Items in tax return that may be one-time items and should be
adjusted to derive at normalized cash flows.

 Understanding the terms of the loans from shareholders and
shareholder requirements in cash flow evaluation.

 Consider discounting all of accounts receivable from cash flows
based on analysis and discussion of aging.
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NAME OF BUSINESS: 
Date lo�orporated 
Method of Accounting 
Owner 

GROSS SALE.$/RECElPTS 

COST OF GOODS SOLD 

GROSS PROFIT 

LEES$ EEXPEENSES 

LESS £EXPENSES NOT ON PAGEE t 
TOTAL EXPENSES 

ADD,: OTHER INCOME 

NET INCOME BEFORE TAXES 

LESS INCOME TAXES 

NET INCOME AFTER TAXES 

RECONCILING ITEMS TO DERIVE AT 
BOOK INCOME 

LESS: fncome on Return not on Books 
LESS: Expenses on Books not on Retuto 
ADO:- Income on Books not on -Return 
ADO� Oedu.ction on Retum not on 13ooks 

Book Income 

ADD BACK: 
INTEREST EXPENSE 

DEPRECIAT!ON • REGULAR" 
AMORTIZATION 

DEPRECIATION ON FORM 1125-A 
OTHER, DEDUCT EXTRAORDINARY GAIN 
OTHER: 

BUSINESS CFAOS 

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE 

COVERAGEX 

REQUIRED DEBT SERVICE 

EXISTING DEST 
LENDER 

NEWR£QUEST 

Eauitiment Loan 

TOTAL CURRENT DEBT==="" 

Other ftems Noted in lhe T/R Review 
Extraordinary Gain ol $500-J000. 
Discuss 
What happened with cilstr!Outions? 
What happsned v,tith sha.reholdec loans? 

BUS.INESS LOAN 
CASH FLOW WORKSHEET 

Y.,itige\_s R U& Tax Return Source 
4/5/19S61120S, Page 1, Line E 
Accruat-1120S, Page 2, Sch. 8, Une 1 

"Shareholder' 1120S-Schedule K-1 for ownership 
Nole • Per Page 1 line I there is onfy 1 owner 

YEAR 2018 

1120$, Page 1, Line le 

---====-1120$, Page 1. Line 2 

11205 •. Pago 1, Une 20 
________ 1120$, Poge 3, Sch. K-Lines 11-12d 

1120s, Page 3, Sch. K,Li�s 2-10 1120S, Page 1 
-----''"""---'- lines 4 &s 

"Taxable Income" - 11205, Page 4 Line 18 

Note--Book income is per 1120Sr Page 5, 
Sche<!Ule M Line 1 

112.05, Page 5, Shedula M, Line 2 
1120$, "Page S, Shedule Ill. Line 3 
1120$, Page s� Shedule M� Une s 
1120S. Page 5, Stiedule M, Line 6 

----=;c·o:-::.··::..· Should agree with 1120s, Page 5, Schedule M, Line 1 

CURRENT 
BALANCE 

1,130,000 
16,524 

300.00fl 

11205, Page 1, Line 13 
11205, Page 1. Line 14 
FORM 4562, Page 2., Line 44 

Fonn 1125-A, line s see stnn 14 

LOAN 
TYPE 

Equ·ipment Loan 
Vehicle Loan 

Enuinroenl Loan 

1,446,524 TOTAL PAYMENTS•-�> 

What doss ths llauldity of the Compariy look llke? 
What was the rental incorrie from? 1s:this recunlng? 

MONTHLY 
PAYMENT 

12,000 
600 

5,800 

ANNUAL 
PAYMENT 

H4,000 

7 200 

0 
0 

0 
0 

220,798 
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